2020

ANNUAL REPORT

F ARNOVA

FARNOVA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
THEEERER QT
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) ( A B 5E MKz 2 BER AT )
Stock Code 5% : 8153




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 10ss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Farnova
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquires, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
EEHRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Farnova
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”).

OVERVEIW

The revenue of the Group was decreased by approximately
26.8% to approximately HK$20.5 million for the Year. The
Group recorded a loss for the Year of approximately HK$48.7
million, as compared to approximately HK$28.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Preceding Year”). The net loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$48.7 million, as compared to approximately
HK$50.8 million for the Preceding Year.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the changes in economic conditions for the
Group arising thereof may have impact on the financial results
of the Group, the extent of which could not be estimated as at
the date of this report. The Group will keep continuous attention
on the situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its impact
on the financial position and operating results of the Group.

The cultural and media industry throughout the world, and
especially in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is
presented with an opportunity. The Company believes that
due to the impact on the global business environment, the
management will continue to develop solid operating strategies
of the Group and explore other investment opportunities with a
view to enhancing and improving returns to our stakeholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENWRR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives its revenue mainly from: (i) advertising in
Hong Kong and the PRC; (i) money lending business in Hong
Kong; and (iii) securities investments in Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$20.5 million, representing a decrease of 26.8% as compared
to that of approximately HK$28.1 million for the Preceding
Year. The Group's loss for the Year decreased by 4.1% to
approximately HK$48.7 million, as compared to approximately
HK$50.8 million for the Preceding Year. Such decrease was
mainly attributable to the significant decrease in financial cost.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Advertising

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$20.0 million
from this operation for the Year, as compared to revenue of
approximately HK$27.6 million for the Preceding Year. The
decrease was mainly due to the fact that the Group is more
focused on the development of advertisement campaign in
Hong Kong, as the three television channels of the Group in
Hunan were stopped due to some changes in national policies in
the PRC. The Group is working with the local media production
houses to conduct stage shows within shopping malls in Hong
Kong and expands its media resources. The expansion of media
resources allow the Group to offer its advertising customers
with a wider range of advertising solutions, including various
advertising media, forms and formats that cater to different
target audiences.

Money lending

Revenue of approximately HK$534,000 from this operation for
the Year, as compared to revenue of approximately HK$438,000
for the Preceding Year. The increase in revenue was mainly due
to accumulated unpaid interest incurred with the Preceding
Year. As at 31 March 2020, gross loan receivables amounted to
Nil (2019: approximately HK$4.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

Securities investments

Details of investments in equity securities listed in Hong Kong
held by the Group during the Year are as follows:

Stock Code Stock Abbreviation B% 14 85 78

R 42 1K 5%

aN ﬁB

HERE

o AT ()

EEENW

Ko

AEERAEEMHRBE LT ZBEAE
ZEREFHBWT

Number
of shares
held as at
31 March

2020
R-Z-2F
=RA=+—H
FrERoEE

Fair value
as at
31 March
2020

Gain
(losses)
during
the Year

ERE
3% (5 38)

HK$'000
TAET

8103 hmvod Limited hmvod 1% 48 900,000 142 (1,267)
8173 Union Asia Enterprise EhhEER
Holding Limited 2,050,400 60 60
2,950,400 202 (1,207)
FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 7 ] B8
Revenue W &=

The Group's revenue decreased by 26.8% to approximately
HK$20.5 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$28.1 million for the Preceding Year. The
significant decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to
decrease in revenue contributed by the advertising segment.

cost of sales and services

The cost of sales and services was 28.4% to approximately
HK$17.0 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$23.7 million for the Preceding Year. Such
decrease was along with the drop in revenue for the Year.

Gross Profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased by 18.2% to approximately
HK$3.5 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$4.3 million for the Preceding Year. Such
decrease was in line with the drop in revenue for the Year. The
Group's gross profit margin was 17.2% for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Bt &k 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continuea)

Distribution costs

No distribution costs incurred for the Year, as compared to that
of approximately HK$169,000 for the Preceding Year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year were increased by 68.4%
to approximately HK$23.1 million, as compared to approximately
HK$13.7 million for the Preceding Year. Administrative expenses
mainly consist of staff costs, depreciation, operating lease
rentals for office and legal and professional fees. The Group will
continue to adopt the stringent cost controls in the forthcoming
periods.

Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$14.4
million for the Year, as compared to approximately HK$28.0
million for the Preceding Year. The finance costs were mainly
arising from the interest expenses on convertible bonds which
were issued in November 2015 and June 2016 and amended the
terms on 5 December 2019 with the effective interest rates of
10.5% and 9.2% per annum respectively.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to
owners of the Company

The Group recorded a loss for the Year of approximately
HK$48.7 million, as compared to approximately HK$50.8 million
for the Preceding Year. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year was approximately HK$48.1 million, as
compared to approximately HK$50.3 million for the Preceding
Period. The basic and diluted loss per share of the Group for the
Period were HK cents 1.21, as compared to HK cents 2.18 and
2.17 respectively for the Preceding Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Bt &k 24

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$149,000 (2019: HK$2.2
million). The Group’s current ratio, being the current assets of
approximately HK$10.9 million (2019: HK$42.0 million) divided by
the current liabilities of approximately HK$135.0 million (2019:
HK$60.0 million), was computed as approximately 0.08 (2019:
0.70). The management viewed that the ratio was not healthy
and acceptable and will try to improve the overall financial
soundness and sustainability of the Group.

The Group's total indebtedness comprised the amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, borrowings,
bond payable and convertible bonds with the total amount
of approximately HK$106.0 million (2019: approximately
HK$185.3 million). The gearing ratio of the Group, being the
total indebtedness divided by total assets excluding deferred
tax assets and liabilities was 972.5% (2019: 419.2%) as at 31
March 2020. The decremental of the ratio was mainly due
to the decrease of trade receivable, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$15.4 million, HK$3 million and approximately
HK$2.1 million respectively.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The majority of the Group’s cash balances and transactions
were either denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group
did not have any outstanding hedging instruments.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2020, the number of issued ordinary shares of
the Company was 4,902,391,929 shares (2019: 2,680,475,222
shares). Additional shares may be issued by way of (i)
conversion of the convertible bonds which if fully converted
would result in the issuance of 1,660,000,000 shares of the
Company; (i) bond interest payments which if fully paid would
result in the issuance of 109,916,707 shares of the Company,
and (iii) share issued under general mandate which it fully paid
would result in the insurance of 452,000,000 shares of the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Bt &k 247

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 16 (2019: 47)
full-time employees including the Directors. Such decrease
was primarily attributable to the reduction in the number of
staff in the PRC's subsidiaries as a result of cost control and
down sizing of business. Total staff costs from continuing
operations for the Year, including director’'s emoluments, were
approximately HK$6.5 million (2019: approximately HK$8.1
million).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently does not have any firm intention or specific
plans for material investment or capital assets. Apart from
strengthening the Group’s current business, the Group will
explore new business opportunities which may benefit the
Shareholders.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for any
facilities granted to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2020 and 2019.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EERENEBEEBCBRHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Gelin (“Mr. Guo”), aged 59, has been appointed as
an Executive Director and the chairman on 27 February 2020.

Mr. Guo has over 30 years of management experience and
20 years of manufacturing and global sales experience in
information technology industry. Mr. Guo is the founder and
director of Shenzhen Fa Nuo Yacht Company Ltd. Since 2009
which has become a well-known catamaran-powered sailing
ship manufacturing company in global. In 2017, Mr. Guo lead the
European team into new energy vehicle industry.

Mr. Guo does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. CHOW Chi Wah Vincent, aged 51, joined the Group and
was appointed as an executive Director and managing Director
on 25 June 2019. Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
obtained a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow has over 20 years’
experience in the finance and accounting fields in Hong Kong.
Mr. Chow is the executive director of Oshidori International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 622) (“Oshidori”) since 1 June
2016 and company secretary of Oshidori since 12 July 2016. He
was appointed as the managing director of the company with
effect from 5 April 2017. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Celebrate International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8212) since 31 August 2018. Mr. Chow was
an independent non-executive director of Imagi International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 585), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange for the period from 28 January 2016 to 10 April
2017. Mr. Chow was an executive director of Mascotte Holdings
Limited, now renamed HengTen Networks Group Limited (Stock
Code: 136), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, for the
period from 3 November 2014 to 26 October 2015.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chow does not, and is not
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Mr. Chow does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. MOU Zhongwei (“Mr. Mou"), aged 63, has been
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 19
August 2020.

Mr. Mou is currently the chairman of Hainan Xinshanghe
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd., Hainan Shanghe Chaodian New
Energy Technology Co., Ltd. and Hainan Shanghe Aviation
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr. Mou has many years of
experience in the new technology industry and accumulated
extensive knowledge in the related business.

Mr. Mou does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. HU Chao ("“Mr. Hu"), aged 36, joined the Group and
was appointed as an executive Director on 22 July 2016.
Mr. Hu obtained a Bachelor Degree in Law from Hunan
University of Technology (formerly known as Zhuzhou Institute
of Technology). Mr. Hu has extensive experience in legal
consultation and had been providing consultancy services
for various businesses in the PRC. Mr. Hu currently serves
as independent non-executive director of GT Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 263), the company listed on the Main
Board. Mr. Hu is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. He also acts as the chairman of the nomination
committee.

Mr. Hu does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. LIN Yan Jenny (“Ms. Lin"), aged 49, joined the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on 14 October 2016
and disqualified on 26 August 2019. Ms. Lin obtained a Master
of Business Administration from the New York University of
Technology. She has over 20 years of management experience
in various industries. She was a Deputy Director of Capital
Markets Guoco Capital Limited during the period from 10
November 2012 to 25 July 2015. She currently serves as an
independent non-executive director of Thiz Technology Group
Limited (Stock Code: 8119), the company listed on the GEM.
During the period from 27 May 2013 to 10 June 2015, she was
an executive director of Evershine Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8022), the company listed on the GEM.

Ms. Lin does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. WANG Ronggian (“Mr. Wang"), aged 39, joined the
Group on 1 April 2016 as a general manager and was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 June 2016 and was resigned on
19 June 2020. Mr. Wang holds a Master degree in corporate
and financial laws from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wang
has extensive experience in the areas of project management,
corporate finance, commercial trade, and legal practice in the
PRC. He currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of CL Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8098) and
Kirin Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8109), both being
companies whose shares are listed on the GEM. Mr. Wang is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. TSANG King Sun (“Mr. Tsang"), aged 36, has been
appointed as an executive director on 2 July 2019 and resigned
on 10 February 2020.

He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Degree on Juris Doctor from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) degree in Accounting from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tsang has worked in several
international audit firms and gained extensive experience in
accounting, auditing practices and financial management.

Mr. Tsang worked as an executive director (from July 2011 to
November 2013) and the company secretary (from July 2011 to
March 2014) of China Household Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
692), and an executive director and the company secretary (from
December 2014 to August 2017) and the chief financial officer
(from April 2015 to August 2017) of China Finance Investment
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 875). Mr. Tsang worked as the
chief financial officer (from November 2017 to December 2018)
and Company Secretary and authorized representative (from
November 2017 to Present) of Asia Investment Finance Group
Limited (Stock Code: 33). Mr. Tsang also worked as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company since 1st January 2019.

Mr. Tsang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi, aged 45, joined the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 22 November 2010.
She was re-designated from chairlady to vice-chairlady of the
Board on 20 December 2017, and was resigned on 1 April 2019.
Ms. Jingquan was responsible for the formulation of corporate
strategy and steering the overall development of the Group. She
has extensive experience in strategic planning and management
for corporate in the PRC. During her tenure, Ms. Jingguan also
acted as the chairlady of the nomination committee and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Jingquan is the beneficial owner of 1,130,500 shares in
the Company, representing approximately 0.03% interest in
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

Ms. Jingquan does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. MAO Songtao, aged 46, joined the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 23 October 2018 and
resigned on 1 April 2019. Mr. Mao is currently Assistant to
the President and Executive General Manager of Asia Pacific
Department of HD Mining Exploration Darwin (Aust.) Pty
Limited. He is responsible for managing the import and sales
of Australian iron in the PRC. Mr. Mao has over 20 years of
business management experience in various industries. Mr.
Mao graduated from Beijing University in 1996 with bachelor’s
degree in Economic Information Management. He then obtained
a master’'s degree of Business Information Management from
The University of Queensland in 2001 and a master’s degree of
Business Administration in Finance from The Australian National
University in 2002.

Mr. Mao does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Qiang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 57, has been appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Wang has worked in the financial industry for years and
accumulated extensive knowledge and experience in securities,
investment and asset management. Mr. Wang has joined China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. In September 2009 and
held various positions including the deputy general manager of
China Huarong Shenzhen office, the general manager of China
Huarong International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Huarong (HK) International Holdings Limited, “CHIH"), and the
general manager of China Huarong Shanghai Pilot Free Trade
Zone office. In June 2016, Mr. Wang joined Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 993) and acted as the
deputy chief executive officer. In February 2017, Mr. Wang has
been re-appointed as the executive director and chief executive
officer. Mr. Wang has been re-appointed again as the chairman
of the board in April 2017 until November 2018.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company with the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. WANG Dequn (“Mr. Wang"), aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director and chairman on 1 November 2019,
was re-designated as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 17
April 2019 and was resigned on 6 August 2020. He is the
chairman of the board of China Veterans Capital Technology
Company Limited (R E & & B & B R 2 7). Mr. Wang has
over 20 years of business experience in e-commerce and
information technology. He has devoted himself to research
and development of new energy, mobile communications,
mobile internet, new mobile e-commerce, etc., and obtained
various national technology patents. Mr. Wang has founded a
number of knowledge-intensive and resource intensive entities
driven by information technology innovation. Such entities
cover the business of cultural industry, health industry, new
energy automobile industry, new e-commerce platform, film
and television media, computer software development, and
research and development, production and sales of mobile
smart terminal products. Mr. Wang was an executive director
and the chairman of Celebrate International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8212) for the period from 19 September 2017 to
25 January 2019. Mr. Wang graduated from Party School of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China with a
major in economic management.

Mr. Wang is the beneficial owner of 220,000,000 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 8.21% interest in the
issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-Executive Directors (continuead)

Mr. QIAN Gang, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and chairman on 22 May 2019 and resigned on 10
January 2020. Mr. Qian has been the chief partner of Quan Yu Zi
Ben since the foundation in 2004. He was the founder of Quan
Yu Zi Ben. Since then, Mr. Qian has held several substantial
positions in a number of well-known international and domestic
companies, including financial, securities and fund companies.
Mr. Qian has served as a senior consultant in several listed
companies. He has established Zhongtai Integrity Investment
(Shenzhen) Limited (“Zhongtai Integrity Investment”) in 2016,
currently be a chairman of Zhong Tai Integrity Investment, and a
founder partner of Zhongtai Integrity Investment Fund. Mr. Qian
has made an investment acquisition on Chongyang 1886 Wine
Group Holdings Limited in 2017, he is currently the beneficial
shareholder of the group and a chairman. Mr. Qian has more
than 10 years of management experience in the financial
industry. Mr. Qian obtained a master’'s degree in management
science from Renmin University of China.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Qian does not, and is not
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

Mr. Qian does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua (“Mr. Lee"), aged 48, joined the
Group and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 1 December 2007. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee
has extensive experience in the fields of auditing, accounting
and finance. Mr. Lee currently serves as an executive director
and company secretary of China Healthcare Enterprise
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1143) which is listed on the Main
Board, an independent non-executive director of Hao Tian
Development Group Limited (Stock Code: 474), Jin Bao Bao
Holdings Limited (now known as Teamway International Group
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1239), Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (Stock Code: 1341) and
Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353), which are listed on the
Main Board; and China Fortune Investments (Holding) Limited
(Stock Code: 8116) and Focus Media Network Limited (now
known as Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited) (Stock Code:
8112), which are listed on the GEM. He was an independent
non-executive director of China Minsheng Drawin Technology
Group Limited (now known as China Minsheng DIT Group
Limited) (Stock Code: 726) from December 2013 to February
2015 and King Stone Energy Group Limited (Stock Code: 663)
from January 2012 to April 2013. He is the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. WONG Ching Keung (“Mr. Wong"), aged 52, joined the
Group and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 21 September 2019. Mr. Wong has engaged in
vegetable trade between China and Hong Kong for more than
30 years. He is currently the general manager of Kong Fung
Vegetable Trading Limited. He is the member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Dr. Antonio Maria SANTOS ("Dr. Santos”), aged 63, have
been appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 9
July 2019.

Dr. Santos was retired from Hong Kong Police Force in January
2012 after more than 30 years of service. His last position was
an Assistant Commander of a Police District. He is the Chief
Operations Officer of the Advance Tactics Service Limited since
July 2013, a consultancy specialized in corporate and personal
risk management. Apart from volunteering for community
services, Dr. Santos is also a part time lecturer in the faculty of
Crime and Investigation for associate degrees and degrees.

Dr. Santos holds a Ph.d. in business administration from
the Nueva Ecija University of Science and Technology in the
Republic of Philippines, a master degree in management studies
from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle in the United
Kingdom and a master degree in criminal justice from the Tarlac
State University in the Republic of Philippines. He is a Fellow of
the Chartered Management Institute, the United Kingdom. Dr.
Santos is an independent non-executive director of Auto Italia
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 720), as well as Imagi International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 585), both shares of which are
listed on the mainboard of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Dr. Santos does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEB 2BREHE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. LUO Ji (“Mr. Luo”), aged 37, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 19 August 2020.

Mr. Luo is currently a general manager of Shenzhen Tianxia
Huaging Investment Technology Company Limited since 2018.
Mr. Luo has been an independent non-executive Director in
China Ding Yi Feng Holdings Limited (formerly name: China
Investment Fund Company Limited) (Stock Code: 612) from
February 2016 to April 2016.

Mr. Luo does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company with the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Mr. HAU Chi Kit (“Mr. Hau"), aged 48, joined the Group
and was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 30 November 2016 and was resigned on 18 July 2019. Mr.
Hau is an independent non-executive director of China Zenith
Chemical Group Limited (now known as “Xinyang Maojian
Group Limited") (Stock Code: 362) and EForce Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 943), both being companies whose shares are
listed on the Main Board; and Trillion Grand Corporate Company
Limited (now known as “hmvod Limited”) (Stock Code: 8103),
a company whose shares are listed on the GEM. Mr. Hau was
a barrister-at-law in private practice from 2001 to 2008. Prior
to becoming a barrister, Mr. Hau worked at the Securities and
Futures Commission. Mr. Hau is a solicitor. In the past three
years, Mr. Hau was an independent non-executive director of
CNC Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8356) from May 2011 to May
2015 and Celebrate International Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8212) from May to November 2015, both companies whose
shares are listed on the GEM.

Mr. Hau does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEE 2 BEFFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Ms. NG Yin Ling ("Ms. Ng"), aged 46, have been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 9 July 2019 and
was resigned on 30 June 2020.

Ms. Ng received her Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration
from the University of Ottawa in 2002, and a Master of Law
(International Business Law) from the City University of Hong
Kong in 2003. A Juris Doctor degree at the City University
of Hong Kong 2016. Ms. Ng currently working with Imagi
International Holdings Limited (stock code 585) as Senior
Vice President of Legal and Corporate Develop. Her work
experience includes a teaching post at the City University of
Hong Kong for the Diploma in Facility Management of Business
Management from 2005 to 2007. From 2004 to 2005 she was a
Senior Manager at the Hong Kong Productivity Council where
she was in charge of business collaboration and partnership
development. From 2002 to 2004, she held a position as an
Executive Officer and External Relations Officer at the City
University of Hong Kong where she was also in charge of
business collaboration and partnership development. Previously
she held senior managerial sales roles at GE ECXpress (HK)
Limited, Parametric Technology Corporation (HK) Limited,
Unigraphics Solutions (HK) Limited and System-Pro Computers
Limited during the period from 1992 to 2002.

Ms. Ng does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are advertising in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), money lending
business in Hong Kong and securities investments in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, can be found in the in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have
been addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks
have been disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis using financial key performance
indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the business of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated
financial statements in this report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise
these impacts if possible. The Group aims to promote
efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies for
emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks to upgrade
equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems in
order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the
energy consumption intensity from time to time.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers
in parts of business to improve performance and efficiency
of the Group. While gaining the benefits from external service
providers, the management realises that such operational
dependency may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected
poor or lapses in service including reputation damage, business
disruption and monetary losses. To address such uncertainties,
the Group engages only reputed third-party providers and
closely monitors their performance.

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts
with the customers and has regular review of requirements of
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct review on
the suppliers’ performance on regular basis.
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Report of the Directors EE 2k &

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 74
to 75 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on page 76 of this annual report. Other movements in reserves
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 79 to 81 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 204 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds of the Company during the year
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued the convertible bonds bearing interest
at 6% per annum in the aggregate principal amount of HK$130
million on 5 November 2015 (the “CB 2018") and HK$120 million
on 28 June 2016 (the “CB 2019") respectively (collectively refer
the “CB"). The CB mature after three years and the CB holders
(the “Bondholder(s)”) can be converted into ordinary shares
of the Company any time on or before the maturity date at a
fixed conversion price of HK$0.05 subject to certain customary
adjustments at the discretion of the Bondholders that are
independent third parties. The net proceeds received from
issuance of the CB of approximately HK$235.9 million.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the Bondholders of the
CB entered into the entered the supplemental agreements,
pursuant to which the Company agreed with the Bondholders
(i) to extend the maturity date of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019
from the maturity date of 5 November 2018 and 28 June 2019
respectively to the extended maturity date of 31 December
2019, and (ii) to change the interest payment terms of the
CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from interest of 6% per annum
payable annually to 8% per annum payable semi-annually. The
approval from the Stock Exchange has been granted and the
shareholders’ approval has been obtained at the special general
meeting of the Company dated 5 December 2018 to approve the
amendments to the terms of the CB.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the CB in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$33.0 million have been convertible into
660,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

As at the end of the financial year and at the time when the
Directors approved this report, no notice has been received
from the Bondholders requesting conversion. Additional shares
may be issued by way of (i) conversion of the convertible
bonds which if fully converted would result in the issuance of
1,660,000,000 shares of the Company; and (ii) bond interest
payments which if fully paid would result in the issuance of
109,916,707 shares of the Company.
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Report of the Directors EE 2k &

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
bye-laws of the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
of the Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2020,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda
(as amended).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, sales to the Group's five
largest customer’s accounted for 100% of the total revenue for
the year and revenue to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 68%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 100% of the total purchases for the
year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Gelin

(Appointed on 27 February 2020)
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent
Mr. Hu Chao
Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Appointed on 19 August 2020)
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi (Resigned on 1 April 2019)
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny (Resigned on 26 August 2019)
Mr. Mao Songtao (Resigned on 1 April 2019)
Mr. Wang Ronggian (Resigned on 19 June 2020)
Mr. Tsang King Sun

(Appointed on 2 July 2019 and resigned on 10 February 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Qiang (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Wang Dequn
(Re-designated from Executive Director to non-Executive
Director on 17 April 2019 and resigned on 6 August 2020)

Mr. Qian Gang (Appointed on 22 May 2019 and resigned on
10 January 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)”)

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua

Mr. Wong Ching Keung

Dr. SANTOS Antonio Monia (Appointed on 9 July 2019)

Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (Resigned on 18 July 2019)

Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine (@ppointed on 9 July 2019 and
resigned on 30 June 2020)
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Report of the Directors EE 2k &

DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)”)
(Continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the
Company and Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, one-third of
the Directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the "AGM").

No Director proposed for the re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee
(as defined below) as set out below under the section on
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from the above INEDs, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 13 to 25 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting have an unexpired
service contract, which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the holding company of
the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference
to market conditions, staff's experience and individual
performance. Other benefits offered by the Group included
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, training
subsidies, share option scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee and decided by
the Board, with reference to the market rates, commitment,
contribution and their duties, and responsibilities with the
Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in details
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of
the scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors EE 2k &

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary
share of HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of the Company
("Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")) which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFQ), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Director and

chief executive Capacity
ESRTETHAEHSE g0

Mr. Wang Dequn Beneficial owner
FEELA EnBEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2020, the following persons/entities
(other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company)
had or were deemed to have an interest or a short position in
the shares or the underlying shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly
or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares

Name of
Shareholders

Capacity and

Notes nature of interests

BREM

Enerchina (a)
Investments
Limited

B RERME
Interest of corporation controlled

XEEE R
Uptown WW Capital (@) Interest of corporation controlled
Group Limited
(Cayman)
XEEEzES
Uptown WW Capital (a) Interest of corporation controlled

Group Limited

(BVI)
XEEE ER
Uptown WW (a) Interest of corporation controlled

Holdings Limited
REEBE 2R
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ANTE (5% A FRIRER -

RBRORMEBROZHER

Number of

underlying
Number of Shares held/ Approximate
Shares held/ interested percentage of
interested (note (d)) shareholding

i/ &%

i/ %8 HERGHEE
B0 8B (MFaE(d) IR A
4,164,383 600,000,000 12.22%
4,164,383 600,000,000 12.22%
4,164,383 600,000,000 12.22%
4,164,383 600,000,000 12.22%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continuea)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares (continued)

Name of
Shareholders

BRREB

Kenson Investment (a)
Limited

Oshidori (a)
International
Holdings Limited

Yiu Kwok Ming
Tommy

kB 85

RAXE

Wang Dequan

TEH

Artic Blue (b)
Corporation

Asian Capital (b)

Partners Group
Company Limited

CITIC Merchant Co., (b)
Limited

Concorde Capital
Group Limited

Huang Bin ()
=

36

Notes

(b), (c)

Capacity and
nature of interests

BORERMS
Beneficial owner

ERBEEA
nterest of corporation controlled

XELEE 2 ER
Beneficial owner

ERBEEA
Beneficial owner
ExnlEBA
Beneficial owner
ExnlEBA
Beneficial owner

EREEA
Interest of corporation controlled

XEEB I ER
Interest of corporation controlled

XEEBE I ER
Interest of corporation controlled

XEEE S
Interest of corporation controlled
XEEB R
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Number of
Shares held/
interested

FiE/ BR
BB E

4,164,383

4,164,383

80,458,628

364,200,547
220,000,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

Number of
underlying
Shares held/
interested
(note (d))
R Ve -]
HERDHE
(H &£ (d))

600,000,000

600,000,000

420,000,000

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

LR BB
12.22%

12.22%

10.13%

7.37%

4.45%

3.03%

3.03%

3.03%

3.03%

3.03%



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares (continued)
Notes:

(@)

Kenson Investment Limited is directly wholly owned by Uptown
WW Holdings Limited which is directly wholly owned by Uptown
WW Capital Group Limited (BVI) which is directly wholly owned
by Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (Cayman) which is directly
wholly owned by Enerchina Investments Limited is directly wholly
owned by Oshidori International Holdings Limited. Oshidori
International Holdings Limited, Enerchina Investments Limited,
Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (Cayman), Uptown WW Capital
Group Limited (BVI) and Uptown WW Capital are deemed to be
interested in the Shares and underlying Shares held by Kenson
Investment Limited.

Artic Blue Corporation is directly wholly owned by CITIC Merchant
Co., Limited which is directly wholly owned by Asian Capital
Partners Group Company Limited which is directly wholly owned
by Concorde Capital Group Limited. Concorde Capital Group
Limited, Asian Capital Partners Group Company Limited and CITIC
Merchant Co., Limited are deemed to be interested in the Shares
and underlying Shares held by Kenson Investment Limited.

Mr. Huang Bin is deemed to be interested in Shares and
underlying Shares through his interests in Concorde Capital Group
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there was no
person or corporation, other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company whose interests are set out in the
section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in shares, underlying shares and debentures” above,
had any interest or a short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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(@  Kenson Investment Limited Fa Uptown WW Holdings
LimitedE ¥ & & # A * MmUptown WW Holdings
Limited f Uptown WW Capital Group Limited (BVI)
H % 2 & ¥ A& Uptown WW Capital Group
Limited (BVI)Fa Uptown WW Capital Group Limited
(Cayman) & # & & # & + Uptown WW Capital
Group Limited (Cayman) g Enerchina Investments
LimitedE# 2 & #% A& + MEnerchina Investments
Limited Fi Oshidori International Holdings Limited
H# %2 & ¥ A - Oshidori International Holdings
Limited - Enerchina Investments Limited - Uptown
WW Capital Group Limited (Cayman) ~ Uptown WW
Capital Group Limited (BVI) K&z Uptown WW Capital
¥ I8 AFKenson Investment Limited Fr 58 2
R RABRAR D B o

(b)  Artic Blue Corporationfa CITIC Merchant Co., Limited
HEZ2&¥AB - MCITIC Merchant Co., Limited /&
Asian Capital Partners Group Company Limited & #
24 ¥ A > Asian Capital Partners Group Company
Limited f8 Concorde Capital Group Limited & # &
& ¥ A - Concorde Capital Group Limited + Asian
Capital Partners Group Company Limited X CITIC
Merchant Co., Limited 5 #% #% /& 5 Kenson Investment
Limited T8 2 IRt R AR BARR (D P #E B #E 25 ©

(€ EMEEHSK RS BN HEConcorde Capital
Group Limited z # = 7 I& 0 [ 48 B8 IR 10 P %
B -
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COMPETITION INTEREST

None of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders or
substantial Shareholders or any of its respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the GEM Listing Rules, or has or may have
any other conflict of interests with Group during the year ended
31 March 2020.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Shareholders and it became effective on 2 February 2009
and remains in force for a period of 10 years from that date.
A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as
follows:—

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options of the Company (the “Option(s)")
under the Scheme to the eligible participants (defined in
paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to the growth of
the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company and to
provide the Company with more flexible means to reward,
remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefit to the
eligible participants.

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations, eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or
services, customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist,
contractor, sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support
or any valuable services to the Company and any of its
subsidiaries, shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or holder of any securities issued by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(b) Eligible Participants

(c)

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their
discretion, invite any directors and employees of the
Group and any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors,
consultants, strategists, contractors, sub-contractors,
expert or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any valuable services to
the Group; shareholders and any securities holders of the
Group (the “Participants”) to participate in the Scheme.

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the Scheme. The Board shall
not grant any options which would result in the maximum
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding Options granted but yet to be
exercised under the Scheme which provide for the grant
of Options to acquire or subscribe for shares exceeding, in
aggregate, 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The mandate of the Scheme was
refreshed by the approval of shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 24 September
2015 ("AGM 2015"). As at the date of this report, the
number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
was 10,812,347 Shares, after the adjustment in respect of
the share consolidation taken effect on 15 October 2015.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(d) Maximum entitlement of each Participant

(e)

(f)

40

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up
to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company on date of grant unless
it is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of
the Company with such Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. Any Option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
in any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in general meeting of the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the
manner provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice
in writing to the Company at any time during a period not
to exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

Payment on acceptance of an Option
offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

(g) Basis on determining of the subscription
price
The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is
a price determined by the Board and notified to each
Participant and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme has expired on 1 February 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no Options under the
Scheme have been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as
non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules during the year. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on
the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 43 to 58 of this report.

AUDITORS

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA
Limited. Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire, and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Guo Gelin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 4 September 2020
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Corporate Governanc

The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices
and process. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business
growth and enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision”)
as set out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize
a quality board, sound internal controls and transparency and
accountability to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31
March 2020, save and except for the following:

1. Code provision A.1.3 requires that notice of at least 14
days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board
meetings, reasonable notice should be given. Due to the
practical reasons, 14 days' advanced notifications have
not been given to all meetings of the Board. Reasons
have been given in the notifications in respect of those
meetings of the Board where it is not practical to give 14
days’ advanced notification. The Board will use its best
endeavor to give 14 days’ advanced notifications of Board
meeting to the extent practicable.

2. Code provision A.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. With
effect from 1 November 2018, the roles of chairman and
chief executive is separated and were not performed by
the same individual.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the directors, its employees, and
the directors and employees of its subsidiaries and holding
companies (the “Relevant Employees”), who may likely possess
inside information on the Company or its securities, on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Relevant Employees,
they all confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company
during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board consisted of four
directors, including four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company, and
demonstrates a proper diversity with its directors coming from
different backgrounds, nationality, professional and industries.
The Director’s biographical information is set out in the
section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. There is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships among the
Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive should be clearly established
and set out in writing. With effect from 1 November 2018, the
roles of chairman and chief executive is separated and were not
performed by the same individual.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has throughout the year met the requirements
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise. At all
times during the year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board pursuant to Rule 5.05A
of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers that these directors
to be independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (“Mr. Lee") has been servicing more
than 10 years in the Company, so his appointment will be
approved by shareholders with an ordinary resolution in the
next AGM. Taking into consideration of his independent scope
of work in the past years, the Directors consider Mr. Lee to
be independent under the GEM Listing Rules and Mr. Lee's
continued tenure brings considerable contribution to the Group
and the Board has benefited greatly from the presence of Mr.
Lee who has over time gained valuable insight into the Group.
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LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and
Officers liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors
and Officers for their liabilities in respect of legal action against
them.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for
promoting the success of the Company by the direction and
supervision of the Company’s business and affairs and the
ultimate responsibility for the day to day management of
the Company which is delegated to the Chairman and the
management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
and management. The Directors may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational
issues of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company.
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DIRECTORS" ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS ESCERLERTH

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other ZBEZe@rHiEstFEEBHMEFBEAS
electronic means of communication to review and determine R&Mex UBHMLEETZEERBRITANR
the overall strategic direction and objectives and approve BiZ B FTE FHHEFEEEUNER
quarterly, interim and annual results, and other significant HtEEEF - -exZLEABH2TE T
matters. Due notices of the meetings are given to all Directors EE@#%22BEE  EPHABTiIRZIEE -
to attend and include matters for discussion. Details of the EF@LKXKEREBE-_ZT_-_THF=ZHF=+—
attendance of each member of the Board at the meetings of BIFEFEAREZEe €3 HKXBEZESER
the Board, its respective committees and the general meetings BEAESZHEFERFBEHIWOT

during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out as follows:

Meetings attended/held
LEEERE/e88T1Y
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Exe ERZEEE ¥MZzee REZEE eI
Executive Directors HTES
M. Guo Gelin (Chairman) DRAEE(EE) (a) 0/1 N/A N/A N/A 11
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi FRBEARL (b) 01 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Hu Chao HRLE 9/18 N/A N/A 5/5 13
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Wt (©) 213 N/A N/A N/A 01
Mr. Mao Songtao ENEEE () 0/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Wang Ronggian IFERE 14118 N/A N/A N/A 113
Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent AFELE (€) 12113 N/A N/A N/A 33
Mr. Tsang King Sun DHAEE (f) 9/10 N/A N/A N/A 2/2
Non-executive Directors JF#{TE%
Mr. Wang Dequn TE#EE © 218 N/A N/A N/A 0/3
Mr. Qian Gang BT (h) 8/13 N/A N/A N/A 0/2
Independent Non- BUEHTES

executive Directors

Mr. Hau ChiKit REGLE 0) 4/9 111 33 33 N/A
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FRERE 718 4/4 115 115 03
Mr. Wong Ching Keung TE®REHE 13/18 4/4 4/5 4/5 113
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine REERT () 5/9 33 2/2 202 113
Mr. Santos Antonio Maria HREHL K 7/9 23 2/2 2/2 113
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DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

(Continued)
Notes:

@)

Mr. Guo Gelin was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board with effect from 27 February 2020.

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi was resigned as an executive Director and
the vice-chairlady of the Board with effect from 1 April 2019.

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny was disqualified as an executive Director with
effect from 26 August 2020.

Mr. Mao Songtao was resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2019.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was appointed as an executive
Director and managing Director with effect from 25 June 2019.

Mr. Tsang King Sun was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 2 July 2019.

Mr. Wang Dequn was re-designated from an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board to the non-executive Director with
effect from 17 April 2019.

Mr. Qian Gang was appointed as an non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Board with effect from 22 May 2019 and
resigned with effect from 10 Januray 2020.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit was resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 18 July 2019.

Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 9 July 2019.

Dr. Santos Antonio Maria was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 9 July 2019.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairlady also held
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and
wellbeing of the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of
the management, the Board has established three committees,
namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the "Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) to
oversee corresponding aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company have defined written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the GEM website
of the Stock Exchange, and are available to shareholders upon
request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on 1 January
2020. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things (a) to review the Group's annual report, interim
report and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the
auditors of the Company on the scope and findings of the audit;
and (c) to supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures and overall risk management of the Group.
The Group's unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results and consolidated financial statements during the
year ended 31 March 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which is of opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been made.

The composition of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Chairman)
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Appointed on 9 July 2019)
Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine
(Appointed on 9 July 2019 and resigned on 30 June 2020)

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (Resigned on 18 July 2019)
Mr. Wong Ching Keung
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continuea)

All of the members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee,
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua, who has extensive accounting and
related financial reporting expertise. The Audit Committee held
four meetings during the Year. Details of the attendance of the
Audit Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors
and senior management. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and senior management and to
make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Director. In determining and approving
the remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and with reference to the
written term of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in the requirements under rules 5.34 and 5.35
to the GEM Listing Rules.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the
Year and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Wong Ching Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Appointed on 9 July 2019)
Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine
(Appointed on 9 July 2019 and resigned on 30 June 2020)

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 July 2019)

All of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Remuneration Committee convened five meetings during
the Year and has reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure relating to the Directors and senior management of
the Company. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on
29 March 2012. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was revised on
1 January 2020. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Directors, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the Year
and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Hu Chao (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua
Mr. Wong Ching Keung
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria (Appointed on 9 July 2019)
Mr. Luo Ji (Appointed on 19 August 2020)
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine
(Appointed on 9 July 2019 and resigned on 30 June 2020)

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (resigned on 18 July 2019)

The majority members of the nomination committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Nomination Committee held five meetings reviewed the
size, diversity and composition of the Board. Details of
the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings as
prescribed aforesaid.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the formulation of
nomination policies, making recommendations to Shareholders
on directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient
biographical details of directors to enable Shareholders to make
an informed decision on the re-election, and where necessary,
nominating appropriate persons to fill causal vacancies or as
additions to the Board. The nomination committee from time
to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular
regard to ensuring that there is an appropriate number of
directors on the Board independent of management. He also
identifies and nominates qualified individuals for appointment
as new directors of the Company.

New directors of the Company will be appointed by the Board.
The Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when
considering new director appointments.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The company secretary reports
from time to time the latest changes and development of
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, on the
professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’'s duties and responsibilities.
Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development by reading in-house
training handbook, relevant materials or attending training
seminar on the topics related to corporate governance as
follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Guo Gelin (Chairman) SRR M E ()
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi HRBH L
Mr. Hu Chao HARB S A

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mtk 22+

Mr. Mao Songtao EMEEE

Mr. Wang Ronggian FRELE

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent BEELE

Mr. Tsang King Sun oA 4k kA
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Wang Dequn TEELE

Mr. Qian Gang 5 8] 55 &
Independent Non-executive Directors B Y FHITES
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEMELEE

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua FEESE

Mr. Wong Ching Keung FIERELE

Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine RI®EL L

Mr. Santos Antonio Maria MEEEBLT

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating
any suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company continued to adopt a code of
conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control
of the Group. The internal control system is to safeguard the
assets of the Group and the shareholders’ investment and to
ensure the reliability of financial reporting as well as compliance
with the relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board had reviewed
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Group. The Board also considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training program and budget.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and
ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company

about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

DISCLOSURE OF THE CHANGES IN THE
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in
the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this
report.

Mr. Wang Ronggian, an executive Director of the Company,
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of CL
Group (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the GEM, stock
code: 8098) and Kirin Group Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the GEM, stock code: 8109) on 2 October 2019 and 3 April
2020, respectively.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration paid and
payable to the auditors, in respect of the audit services to the
Group were approximately HK$690,000 (2019: HK$630,000).
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
time manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as
well as the investors to have better understanding in relation
to the business performance, operations and strategies of
the Group. Through our website which allows the Company’s
potential and existing investors as well as the public to assess
and acquire the up-to-date company and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the
shareholders, the investors and the public are as follows:

— Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

— Publication of announcements on the annual, interim
and quarterly results on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website, and issue of other
announcements and notices, and shareholders’ circulars
in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung (“Mr. AU Yeung"”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary on 23 May 2018. Mr. Au Yeung holds
a Bachelor of Science in Applied Biology with Biotechnology,
the degree of Master of Business Administration from University
of Wales, Newport and the degree of Master of Corporate
Governance from The Open University of Hong Kong. He is
a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom. During the Year, Mr. Au
Yeung has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 5.15 to update his skills and
knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are properly followed and for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with
Shareholders and management.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings (the "EGM") of the Company
shall be convened on the requisition of any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such shareholders shall have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and the EGM shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the
shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact
details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business
and its supporting documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continuea)

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or
requests, either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together
with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or
fax, addressing to the Board of the Company at the following
address or facsimile number or via email:

Rooms 2007, 20/F., C C Wu Building,

302-308 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 3583-5683

Email: info@farnovagp-hk.com

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary
who shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The
executive Directors shall review the enquiries and collect
answers from relevant department. The executive Directors will
reply the enquiries directly or authorise the Company Secretary
to reply enquiries in writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder
original duly signed written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as
required by law.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to its shareholders and investment
public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website
of the Company (http://www.farnovagp-hk.com) has provided
an effective communication platform to the public and the
shareholders. During the review period, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Government Report

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

This report is the second Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the "ESG Report”) in compliance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the”"ESG Reporting
Guide”) in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. This report
discloses the Group's performance on Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") focusing on the accomplishments over the
period between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 (the “Year”).

The ESG Report intends to give insight into the approach
adopted and actions taken by the Group regarding its operations
and sustainability that have implication for the Group and the
interest to stakeholders. The ESG Report has been presented
into two aspects, environmental and social aspects which will
focus on our two core businesses, provision of digital television
services in Hong Kong and the PRC and the provision of car
beauty services in Hong Kong. During the Year under review,
the Group committed to a high standard of corporate social
responsibility and strictly complied with the requirements
of relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the ESG
Reporting Guide.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

A.1 Emissions and pollutants

The environmental pollutants generated by the Group in
this year mainly include: wastewater, gases, hazardous
wastes and non-hazardous wastes.

Discharge of wastewater and related measures

The wastewater generated by the Group mainly refers to
the industrial wastewater and domestic wastewater. The
industrial wastewater includes the wastewater from car
wash, car repair and maintenance and equipment cleaning
water. The domestic wastewater mainly refers to the
waste water generated in the office.

To comply with the advocacy of “Green Garage” launched
by the Environmental Protection Department, the Group
has built suitable drainage systems in the workshop
and only discharge treated wastewater to foul drains.
Our Group is not encouraged to allow water to run
continuously from taps and sprays in order to reduce
wastewater discharge. To ensure the effective use of water
and lessen the waste due to leakage, we have performed
regularly check-up for our equipment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continued)

Emissions and pollutants «continuead)
Discharge of gases and related measures

The gases generated by the Group mainly refers to the
odour and paint mist generated by the paint spraying and
exhaust emission generated by repairing and maintaining
the venhicle.

The process is conducted in paint spray booth or
designated compartments in a workshop. During paint
spraying, the doors of the paint spray booth is closed
tightly to avoid leakage of odour and paint mist. The paint
spray booth and designated compartment are installed
with air pollution control facilities including paint mist
filtering facilities. As the Group also provides the vehicle
check-up for exhaust emission, exhaust is emitted during
the check-up. We conduct the engine tuning in the
restricted area in order to decrease the nuisance caused
by exhaust gas. We do not allow vehicle exhaust gas to
escape uncontrolled, affecting nearby residents. Our
Group also maintains the facilities regularly.

Discharge of hazardous wastes and related
measures

The hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly
refers to organic solvents and paint generated by the paint

spraying.

As these wastes are chemical wastes, it must be handled
with due care in order to avoid pollution of soil or drainage
system by chemical waste. We store these wastes in the
designated areas having wall and impermeable floor. We
handle these hazardous wastes according to the statutory
requirements.

Discharge of non-hazardous wastes and related
measure

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly
refer to household garbage.

We have cleaned and transported the household garbage

timely for not generating the smell, stink and flies pollution
to the neighbourhood.
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Environmental, Social and Government Report 15 - 2R EARRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea) A, BEEHE#)
A.2 Use of resources A2 ERER

The Group has mainly utilized the electricity and water
during the course of business.

The electricity is consumed through lighting and
air-conditioning during production and broadcasting and
the emissions from business travel through Hong Kong and
the PRC.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of the
sum of 43,728 kWh of electricity.

The water is consumed through production use and
domestic use. The production use refers to the use for
performing the car wash services and the domestic use
refers to the office.

During the Year, the Group reported consumption of the
sum of 1,059 m3 of water.

To consume electricity and water effectively, the Group
adopts the following measures to reduce the consumption,
including:

. turning off the electronic equipment when it is not
being used and switch the lights off before leaving
the office and the workstations;

° repair and maintain the electronic devices regularly
to avoid overconsumption due to malfunction;

o deploying energy-efficient devices which carry
Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Service Department; and

. advocating the temperature at the office and
workstations to be remained at 25.5 degree Celsius.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea) A RIEHE#)
A.2 Use of resources (continued) A2&ERER®
The resources used by the Group from offices relates to AEERAEFRAERSIEAK - AE
water, electricity and paper consumption. KA -
GENDER GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION
MR IRV E

H Female H PRC

2z rh

Male Hong Kong

S B

A.3 Environmental and natural resources ABRERRARER

The Group is a member of the community and is proactive AEBEATE-—BEVERREIRSE -
to preserve the environment.
The Group has developed the Environmental Management REBZERREERSG /A
System which has been certified to comply with 1SO14001. ISO14001 2 RFE - AEEH T H M E E
The Group will regularly spread the practical tips and BErREESPEEBERR2ERADNBIR
information about the environmental friendly action to the BER URERLEBHRBERNFT
management and employees to minimize the impact of the 2o

business on the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Government Report 15 - 2R EARRE

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT (continuea)

A.3 Environmental and natural resources

(Continued)

To be an environmental-friendly member, we adopt the
following measure to use the natural resources effectively
apart from electricity and water, including:

. reducing the use of paper and encourage duplex
printing and reusing of single-side printed papers;

. strictly complies with relevant environmental laws
and regulations towards local laws and regulations
on environment in the PRC and Hong Kong such
as Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FPEARZEMBEIRERE L),
Law of The People’s Republic of China on The
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
(REARAMBE KRS 2EM8%) and Urban
Drainage and Sewage Treatment Ordinance <3 #& Bt
K ERT K B IR A B ; and

° performing regular assessment in analysing data in
aims to better manage the use of resources.

SOCIAL ASPECT

Employment and Labour practices

The Group advocate employee-friendly environment with
fair and equal opportunities for people with different
age, gender, race, colour, sexual orientation, disability or
marital status in order to increase the satisfaction and
sense of belongings of employees. The Group also provide
competitive remuneration for employees and try to provide
the platform for employees to realize the personal value.

The Group has established a set of comprehensive human
resources policies regarding employment, promotion,
dismissal, training, welfare and remuneration.
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SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

Employment and Labour practices
(Continued)

The Group therefore complies with the following rules and
regulations strictly, including, Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZEARZEMEIZLE E) ("the PRC
Labour Law"), Labour Contract Law of People’s Republic of
China (FREARKEMELEHERE) (“the PRC Labour
Contract Law”), Hong Kong Employee Ordinance, Hong
Kong Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and other
relevant employment laws applicable to the jurisdictions
where the Group operates.

The Group have then formulated the human resources
policies and procedures and additional bonus and
incentives into the remuneration system. The remuneration
of employees is determined by duties and align with the
market rate. The welfare that the Group provides includes
retirement pension, medical insurance and so on. Staff
handbook also highlights important information of policies
on compensation, employee benefits including medical
insurance, rights on termination, business conduct and
leave benefits.

Employees’ performance is evaluated on a timely basis so
that it could be also reflected in employees’ remuneration
accordingly. The Group values the personal development
of employees and establishes training programmes for
employees to join so that it could cultivate the potential
future leader.

Social activities such as annual dinner, team building and
other social events are organised for employees in order
to have their work-life balance, decrease employees
pressure and discomfort, boost the morale of employees
and enhance the bonding among employees.

Apart from that, the Group review and may update the

human resources policies from time to time to prevent
from violating the labor laws.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continuea) B. Ht2HE»)
B.2 Health and Safety B2 EHEZZE

Employees are crucial to the Group and maintaining
employee’s occupational health and safety plays an
important role for the Group.

The Group operates in both PRC and Hong Kong. The
Group then strictly complies with the related laws and
regulation including Regulation on Work-related Injury
Insurance (T &R B & B), Measures for the recognition
of work-related Injuries (T & R F 5 /%), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases (%= R F1 B B 2 R Br 6% ),
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
of Hong Kong <(Ex# B2 ({L 2 E%)(— &) #EHI1) and
Occupational Safety and Health Regulation of Hong Kong
(B T2 R@EBEEP) for a healthy and comfortable
working environment.

There is also fire prevention protection including
fire-fighting equipment such as fire extinguisher and fire
detection equipment are equipped and checked regularly
to prevent any fire outbreak. Staff also participate in
regular fire drill and smoking is prohibited in all areas.

Apart from this, the Group operates car beauty service
which store various kinds of chemicals that might harm
the safety. The Group cast more attention to store and to
handle these chemical timely and properly and enhance
the employees’ awareness so that it could prevent from
any gases leakage, fire or explosion due to inappropriate
storage. The Group has an instructor guide for using the
materials and the reminders for using those materials.

For the Year, the Group has reported zero work related
fatalities and work injuries.
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.3 Development and Training

66

The Group values the personal development of employees
and therefore establishes training programmes for
employees to join so that it could cultivate the potential
future leader.

The Group encourages for lifelong learning in order
to adapt to this ever-changing world. Employees are
encouraged for continuous development so that they can
broaden and expand their skillset and mindset through
training, grow in the Group and ultimately could contribute
to our society.

To realise the growth of staff in the Group, various
internal and external trainings and workshops periodically
throughout the year are provided. Those programmes
focus on aspects including but not limited to financing,
accounting, corporate governance and others directly
related to the business of the Group. More importantly, the
trainings focus on improving the employees’ knowledge,
skills and attitude. The Group reserves a fund for Directors
and all levels of staff for training and reviews annually if
the fund is sufficient.

To facilitate the new staff to familiarise with the Group,
orientation and on-job training are provided. Staff
evaluation is performed annually so that both the Group
and the staff review what can strengthen or improve
afterwards.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)
B.4 Labour Standards

The Group is strictly obeyed to the PRC Labour Law and
Employee Ordinance, Chapter 57 of the law of Hong Kong.
We strictly prohibit to hire any individuals under legal
working age or without any identification documents.

In the recruitment process, human resources department
will request the candidate to present effective
identification document. Other than that, the human
resources will perform reference check accordingly to the
materials provided. The Group has strictly obeyed related
local law on equal employment opportunity. The Group
signs the labour contracts with all employees with mutual
agreement.

The Group sets up an anonymous whistling-blowing
system and encourage staff to blow the whistle if they
are forced to do against their will or under threat of
punishment. Through such system, the Group could
become more transparent and fair.

For the Year, there is no labour dispute between the
Company and its staff.

B.5 Supply Chain Management

The Group values every stakeholder, especially suppliers,
as it could bring profound impact on our business.

It is believed that maintaining good relationship with
suppliers could lead to have competitive edge, enhance
the quality brought to customers and ultimately to have
better results. This year, the suppliers of the Group
maintained steadily which provided the services and
materials to the Group stably as well. The Group believe
that these suppliers could maintain long-term business
relationship and ensures the economic interest, and
legitimate rights and interests of both suppliers and the
Group.
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B.

SOCIAL ASPECT (continued)

B.6 Product Responsibility

The Group values significantly to our services quality
and the loyalty of our customers and business partners.
Customers top our priority and we focus on their service
experience and after-sales services.

The Group establish and launch customer communication
system so that customers give feedback and the
Group could gather, handle and analyse the feedback.
Subsequently, the Group would allow to have better
response in order to meet the need and expectations of
customers. From achieving this, the Group could retain
loyal customers.

Apart from that, the Group gather data of customers
personal information and services enjoyed. Therefore,
the Group establish the information management system
policies to provide guidance to staff on maintaining
and using the data and restrict the access or use
where necessary to protect the interest of the Group.
Data is classified into different levels according to
the confidentiality as public, internal, and restricted/
confidential. In order to protect consumer data and
privacy, we will keep the client information together and
destroy on a timely basis with due care.

B.7 Anti-Corruption

68

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group values the integrity and justice enormously. The
management of the Group establish the code of conduct
and employees in the Group must strictly comply with the
codes in their daily duties. Through communications with
employees from time to time, the rules and regulations
are frequently conveyed. The Group expect the employees
obey the law, uphold their principles, and reject any
beneficial temptations in order to prevent from involving in
corruption and money laundering.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

B.

HEEHE &)

B.6 EmE

AEBEREEARBEZUREPRE
BRRHZIABE BEFREMEEZE
E MRAMBERSIRERBRBLRER
R -

AEBRZIVHELEFPBARR  ©F
FrRHRELEAEE]KE - &1
o BRRE - NEBERERSAREHR
FEOEAREREPZHERREMN - &
HRERBEES

o AEBBEEFEAERARESR
MBZER - At - ARBERIEEE
BRHIBR REIHERERERRE
gl YR MERFRGIFERKER -
UNREASE 2z - BERRELR
ME R RS EE2RESRTRRF -
RREHBEZERRLE  RABE
FPEHMERRELNFEERBER -

B7 R&ES

RESRKRBE
AEE+DERBERLEE - AEEE
BEESETATA MAEEEEAR
AERBTEBETZETA - RAR
ERRFEBINRERERSBBEE - K
SEPEREBTER BITRFZR
A ERTANEAR WERFPRE
AREEE -



Environmental, Social and Government Report B - HE2RERRE

B. SOCIAL ASPECT (continuea) B. Ht2HE»)
B.7 Anti-Corruption continued) B.7 REE (&)

Anti-corruption and money laundering (Continued)

The Group strictly abide by all relevant laws including,
Criminal law of the People’s Republic of China (r %
AR HEFE A L), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China (R ZEARKEXME & T

&5 F%), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Theft Ordinance of Hong Kong, Corruption Prevent
Guide for the Listed Company of Hong Kong and all other

relevant laws and regulations.

Directors, their associates or, any shareholders of the
Company who own more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company, do not have any interest in
the Group's five largest customers and the five largest
suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has not received any complaint
or notification from governmental authorities regarding
non-compliance of the Group or its employees with
anti-corruption laws referred to above.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblower policy which a complaint
channel is established for employees or other parties to
confidentially and/or anonymously report any actual or
suspected occurrence of improper conduct involving the
Group.

B.8 Community investment

Community involvement

The Group values the community that it lives and takes
its responsibility to promote the sustainable development
and build a harmonious society. We plan to activate
launching different kinds of contributions including,
donation, charities, and so on. Assessment will be taken
on how to integrate business activities with the interests
of community. Also, the Group is committed to provide
career opportunities to the locals and promote the
development of the community’s economy.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B M A% BLAT R

elite
-’ partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of

FARNOVA GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CODE AGRICULTURE
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Farnova Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited) (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "the Group”) set out on
pages 74 to 203, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

70 Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

BrREEERERIATRR
(AN EXERERLT)

(RERZZMEZZEFRLA)

TEXRER
AZBEMEZRIAR X B7AR 2038 PR 8 A w4
SEEBRBERRAE (AIEMEREZERERATR)
(ERADEREFRARBEBIEEEDZ&EA
HBHRE  HPRER-ZE_SF=A=+—
HzHAEMBRARAKR  UWRBEZALFE
ZEARRER HKAezERER KAER
EPHRMEAEERNER  URKEAM K M
RME(BREIZSATHEME) -

AzBmAEY BEXEEZHEEYBHRERIE
HER ERABEFNERBERZIEE—H
FMBZEXREE  AZBMAERSEERNA
HECERRERBRASHRAMBBRRE
HERER RABEMHIE N HER
B REEAMBRRERERTEARIEM
CHRBERELZREE -



Independent Auditor's Report ¥& 3 # 2 ff R &

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties related to the going
concern basis

As disclosed in note 2 to consolidated financial statements,
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$124,283,000 and capital deficiency of approximately
HK$128,109,000 as at 31 March 2020. The existence of these
uncertainties casts significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the assumption that the Group will continue as a going concern,
the validity of which is dependent on the favourable outcomes
of the steps being taken by the directors as described in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. However, we
were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to assess the
appropriateness and validity of the going concern assumption.
Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would have to be made to reclassify all non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities, write down
the value of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide
for any further liabilities which may arise. These consolidated
financial statements do not include any of those adjustments.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report ¥ 3 # & ff 8 &

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group'’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 3z #% 2 &l ¥ &

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’'s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liabilities to any other person for the contents
of this report. However, because of the matter described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Chan Wai Nam, William with
Practising Certificate Number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 4 September 2020

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & =2 =2 =A=+—HIFE

2020

—E-%%

—

HK$'000
FERT

continuing operations FREKE
Revenue WA 6 20,534 28,061
Cost of sales and services 5 & & AR 1% A AR (17,000) (23,741)
Gross profit E 3,534 4,320
Other income H e A 7 8 814
Other loss Hh &5 18 8 (13,496) (12,461)
Distribution costs 7 85 A AR = (169)
Administrative expenses THREA (23,144) (13,744)
Net fair value loss on financial assets at  #Z AR EFARBR Z
fair value through profit or loss ERMEEZANE
&5 18 23 (1,207) (1,282)
Finance costs B & KA 9 (14,366) (27,994)
Loss before income tax B BT 15 %% A1 /&5 18 10 (48,671) (50,516)
Income tax credit Frig fi i & 12 - 20
Loss for the year from continuing BEREEBLZ
operations FEEIE (48,671) (50,496)
Discontinued operation BRIEKEEK
Loss for the year from discontinued ERIEEEEBL 2
operation FEEHE 13 - (259)
Loss for the year FEEIE (48,671) (50,755)
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARG A A EL
of the Company FE BAE
— Continuing operations - FEREER (48,147) (50,363)
- Discontinued operation -ERIEREER - (259)
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARG A ABEFEE
of the Company B8 (48,147) (50,622)
Loss for the year attributable to non- FEEREREHFERE
controlling interests B8
— Continuing operations -RAEKEER (524) (133)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LosS &ZR&E#

For the year ended 31 March 2020 2= =—FF=A=+—HIEFE

2020
—E-EF
Notes HK$°000
ihg=2 FTHERT
Loss per share BREBEE
From continuing and discontinued REFEKLERDKIE
operations B TS
- Basic -ER (1.21) (2.18)
- Diluted -#E (1.21) (2.18)
From continuing operations RERFEKEER
- Basic -ER (1.21) (2.17)
- Diluted -#E (1.21) (2.17)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meZHEkER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & =2 =2 =A=+—HIFE

2020

—R-%F

HK$'000
TR

Loss for the year FEEIE (48,671) (50,755)
Other comprehensive income ﬁf@iﬁﬂﬁl
ltem that may be reclassified HgrgEoBzBancEE:
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of REBINEBEECZELERS
foreign operations (423) 774
Reclassification of foreign currency HE—RMFRARIININEREFEE
translation reserve upon disposal of EFNE
a subsidiary 1,281 -
Total comprehensive expenses for the FEERAZERE
year (47,813) (49,981)
Total comprehensive expenses LWTATEAEZER B
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company o VNI ¥ = DN (47,308) (50,089)
- Non-controlling interests - AR = (505) 108
(47,813) (49,981)
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Ra AR R &

As at 31 March 2020 A —Z-ZEF=HA=+—H

2020
—R-%F

HK$'000
TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- EkERE 16 58 2,220
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 54
Other intangible assets Hth\mEEE 18 - 104
Investment in an associate R—EBE AR Z2KE 19 - =
Deferred tax assets EEFRIEE E 30 - =
112 2,324
Current assets REBEE
Loan receivables FE W E 3 21 - 4,416
Trade receivable Z 5 RN IE 22 10,000 25,440
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE e RHAMm
receivables JE I 0 1E 20 534 6,738
Financial assets at fair value through BRARBEFABERZZE
profit or loss B & E 23 202 3,160
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEEY 24 149 2,220
10,885 41,974
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables =Y sl 25 7,677 18,890
Other payables and accruals EMEMREBEREFSE
A 26 23,094 16,163
Amount due to a non-controlling FERFRRl—RIEER
shareholder of a subsidiary % B FA 27 4,198 709
Amount due to a director B —% %%m 820 1,120
Borrowings BE 28 16,366 20,818
Convertible bonds Al R E 31 80,753
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 25
Tax payable FETF IR 2,235 2,235
135,168 59,935
Net current liabilities REBaEFE (124,283) (17,961)
Total assets less current liabilities #ZEERRBAERE (124,171) (15,637)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #& Bt #&Ak R 3=

As at 31 March 2020 R—Z - =H=+—H

2020
—E-2H
Notes HK$°000
ihg=2 THER
Non-current liabilities kEREEME
Convertible bonds A% R ES 31 - 162,630
Bond and interest payable ENESFEAE 32 3,938 =
3,938 162,630
Net liabilities BEEH (128,109) (178,267)
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves B AR E
Share capital N 33 1,961 1,072
Reserves 1 (125,928) (171,725)
Equity attributable to owners of the KRG B ANEHER
Ccompany (123,967) (170,653)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (4,142) (7,614)
Capital deficiency % 7S &5 A (128,109) (178,267)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors ZARAREZEBEFETR_ZT_ZTFNLANAI AR
of the Company on 4 September 2020 and were signed on its E#E#ET > WAL TALTREESE -
behalf.

Guo Gelin Mou Zhongwei
20 4% A 2HE
Director Director

EFE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Change S in Equity
Eangex

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 =2 —FF=A=+—HILFE

At 31 March 2018
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9

Share capital

BE

Share
premium

Attributable to owners of the Company

Equity
component of
convertible
bonds
ﬂ@gﬁﬁz

EGE LN

Merger
Teserve

Exchange
reserve

e

Accumulated
losses

(338,132)
(4.980)

Total

(4.980)

Non-
controlling
interests

FERER
HK$000
ThT

Total equity

Y 5

(4.980)

Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 CE-N\EMA-AZEEEER 760 132,194 42,505 (197) (878) 34312 (168,724) (1722) (176,446)

Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - (50,622) (50622) (133 (50,755)

Other comprehensive income At2EkE

- Exchange differences on translation of -RERNEREEZEREE - - - - 583 - 533 11 i
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income EE2EUE(RR)EE - - - - 53 (50,622 (50,089) 108 (19.981)
(expense) for the year

Shares issuied in respect of equity Settlement 60 14940 - - - - 15,000 - 15,000
0f 8 loan (note (c))

Shares issued under general mandate pi) 6972 - - - - 7,000 S 7,000

Loss on amendments of the terms of the - - 39404 - - 39,494) - - -
convertible bonds (note (bif)

Direct cost regarding to the amendments of BB HTAREF KR 2 ERAE = = (60) = = = (60) = (80)
the terms of the convertible bonds

Conversion of convertiole bonds (note (bii) 136 19,585 (428 - - - 15,440 - 15,440

Shares issued or to be issuied in respect of 8 10712 - - - - 10800 - 10800
bond interest payments (note (biv))

At 31 March 2019 RZ®-1F=R=1-7 1072 184403 77,638* (197)* (30 @328 (170,653) (7614)  (178,267)

Loss for the year FEEE - S . S s (48,147) (48,147) (524) (48,671)

Other comprehensive income H?ﬁi@%

- Exchange differences on translation of BB EREEERER - - - - (442) - (442) 19 (423)
foreign operations

- Reclassification of foreign currency -HE-BIRANEREREENIE - - - - - 1,281 1,281 - 1,281
translation reserve upon disposal of a
subsidiary

Total comprehensive expenses FE2EMRAE S = = S (442) (46,866) (47,308) (505) (47,813)
for the year

Shares isslied under general mandate RE-REEEAZRA 181 8,407 - - - - 8,588 - 8,588

Conversion of convertible bonds (note (bil) ~ EA#  B& % (H 3 bii) 664 115,781 (39,524) - - - 76,921 - 76,921

Shares issued or tobe issued inrespectof — BXREANSMEALEFEALRE 4 8,441 - - - - 8,485 - 8,485
hond interest payments (note (biv)) (F s (biv)

Disposal of & subsidiary HE-HTAA - - - - - - - 3977 3977

At 31 March 2020 ZEZEZEZBZ1-R 1,961 317,032 38,114* (197) (783) (480,094)* (123,967) (4,142) (128,109)

ZERBREOEGAVBEMRRERRNZGEA R
1#125,928,0007% T (ZZ — L4 : 171,725,000)
HBIL) °

s These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves *
of HK$125,928,000 (2019: HK$171,725,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZREEEE R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &&= =2 =S =A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(@)

(bi)

(bii)

(biii)

80

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued, less share
issue expenses. Pursuant to the Companies Act of Bermuda, the
Company's share premium account may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

Equity component of convertible bonds relates to convertible
bonds issued during the year.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the bondholders of the
6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$130.0 million due on 5 November 2018 (the “CB 2018") and
the 6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$120.0 million due on 28 June 2019 (the “"CB 2019") (collective
refer the “CB” and the “Bondholders”) entered the supplemental
agreements, pursuant to which the Company agreed with the
Bondholders (i) to extend the maturity date of the CB 2018 and
the CB 2019 from the maturity date of 5 November 2018 and
28 June 2019 respectively to the extended maturity date of 31
December 2020, and (i) to change the interest payment terms
of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from interest of 6% per annum
payable annually to 8% per annum payable semi-annually. The
approval from the Stock Exchange has been granted and the
shareholders’ approval has been obtained at the special general
meeting of the Company dated 5 December 2018 to approve the
amendments to the terms of the CB.

As the terms of the CB have been amended, the CB has been
revalued as at the date of obtaining the shareholders’ approval
on the basis carried out at that day by an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The liability and
the equity components of the CB have been adjusted. A gain
on debt extinguishment of approximately HK$1.7 million was
recognised in the finance costs as the adjustment for the liability
component and a loss of approximately HK$39.5 million was
recorded in the equity transactions.

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have
converted the CB 2018 with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$50.0 million at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share into
1,000,000,000 shares. (2019: no shares were converted). The
bondholders of the CB 2019 have converted the CB 2019 with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$33.0 million at conversion price
of HK$0.05 per share into 660,000,000 Shares (2019: aggregate
principal amount of HK$17,000,000 converted into 340,000,000
shares).
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(biv)

(cii)

(ciii)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity GRE =2 F R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 =2 —FF=A=+—HILFE

During the year, the Bondholders have requested to pay any
interest payable by way of Shares. The interests of approximately
HK$8,485,000 have been paid by way of the Shares and
109,916,707 Shares were issued at conversion price of HK$0.05
per share (2019: interests of approximately HK$10,800,000
converted into 219,800,547 Shares).

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired and the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as set out in the prospectus of
the Company dated 26 March 2001.

On 29 August 2018, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Artic Blue Corporation (“Artic Blue”), pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to allot and issue and Artic
Blue has agreed to subscribe for 150,000,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per subscription shares for
settlement of the outstanding loan of approximately HK$15.0
million due to Artic Blue. On 10 September 2018, 150,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were issued
accordingly.

On 19 September 2018, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with Mr. Wang Dequn (“Mr. Wang"),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue and Mr.
Wang has agreed to subscribe for 70,000,000 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per subscription shares for
additional financial resources for the overall development of
the Group. On 26 October 2018, 70,000,000 Shares were issued
accordingly. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an executive
Director and chairman of the Board with effect from 1 November
2018.

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(biv)

(cii)

(ciii)
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & =2 =2 =A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from operating
activities

REZHNRESRE

2020

—g-2f

— S

HK$'000
FET

Loss before income tax B TS T AT & 18
From continuing operations REFBELEED (48,671) (50,516)
From discontinued operations REKIEEEET = (273)
(48,671) (50,789)
Adjustments for: RATEIBRE:
Finance costs A& KA 14,366 29,703
Interest income LB WA = (49)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAIZEBAE 1,979 56
Net realised loss/(gain) on disposal of HEZRAFEFABZZ SR
financial assets at fair value through BEZBEEEE (KH)
profit or loss peig- 149 (346)
Net fair value loss on financial assets PREEZAANEEIBFA
at fair value through profit or loss EAREFAER 1,058 1,628
Depreciation and amortisation iN-DE ¥ 2,454 408
Fair value change of liabilities ERBECZAALEEDY
extinguishment - (1,709)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - WERREEE
plant and equipment B8 - 324
Write-off items of property, plant and M - MR RE 2 MBEIER
equipment - 45
Impairment loss on other receivables H th fE WO IR R E S 1B 28 2,599
Impairment loss on accounts and loan ERRERERREERE
receivables 11,489 9,862
Waiver of other payables BN G H b B (S 3R 1E — (720)
Operating loss before working capital EBESENA 2 KEBE
changes (17,148) (8,988)
Decrease in inventories 7 &Rk > - 62
Increase in loans receivables JE I B F3E N (534) (438)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 MW R IE G N (19,899) (11,765)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FERRKIE  EFe HMEWKKIE
deposits and other receivables B, (18 00) 6,140 (4,109)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e FRIA L 15,354 12,634
Increase in other payables and accruals — H fth FE < 3k 18 & FE &1 & A& 9,132 4,393
Decrease in amount due from a related J&E U — ) B8 B R R SR IR
company - 2,802
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to FEAT — B IEEMRAR TR IB LG N,
a non-controlling shareholder of a ORL )
subsidiary 4,198 (45)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEERAAEFABZR 2
through profit or loss TREE - (6,002)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZANBEFABRZZ
assets at fair value through profit or TR EE B RIAE
loss 1,751 11,277
Cash used in operations REMARE (1,006) (179)
Tax paid EfN#HA - (160)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &ZZ&EHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &2 =2 —FF=A=+—HILFE

2020
—®_%F

HK$’ 000
FERT

Net cash used in operating RETEHMARSFE

activities (1,006) (339)
Cash flows from investing RETBREBRERE

activities
Purchase of items of property, plantand EEY% - #E L XEEE

equipment (189) (368)
Net outflow of disposal of items of HEWE  MBERREIER

property, plant and equipment B 15337 - 1,800
Net cash (outflow)/inflow arising from HEFRARMEELEZES CRE),

the disposal of subsidiaries A F 8 (19) 128
Interest received 2 A = 49
Net cash (used in)/generated from #REFE(FA) FERESFHE

investing activities (208) 1,609
cash flows from financing METBREREERE

activities
Proceeds from issue of shares BT FT1S 3R IE 8,588 7,000
Proceeds from issue of bond BITESHA ?%TJX 3,700 -
Expenses on issue of convertible bonds ﬁ—Hﬁ‘ s %2 B = (240)
Proceeds from borrowings 1 B P13 XA 5,200 23,183
Repayments of borrowings & a%ﬁ (13,207) (31,014)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAE (406) =
Interest paid EAHE (4,434) (1,663)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to BREZEZECRD), &N

director (300) 1,120
Net cash used in financing METBHAARSER

activities (859) (1,614)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRESEEBYRIBE

equivalents (2,073) (344)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#RE& MR EEEY

of year 2,220 2,063
Effects of foreign exchange rate INEEXRES s LB FHE

changes, net 2 501
Cash and cash equivalentsatend EFXRBESEBRLSEEY

of year 149 2,220
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Farnova Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited) (the “"Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Room 2007,
20th Floor, C C Wu Building, 302-308 Hennessy Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which includes all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA,
and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, these consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”)
and by the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO").

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for certain financial instruments measured at fair
values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“"HK$") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continuea)

2. EXGEE®

(@ WmREE#)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2020. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;,

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements,
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

RERE
RAVBRREEBEAAALEFR
ARBEIARENBRE_T_FF
ZA=t-BLEFEZHBEER -
ERAGIEC B WNCIR=R - A kS
CER(BREBLEER)  HMAE
BEBR2ERRENEBEMEAR
FERBRERRET ZAEE K
BERNTEHERET 2N (B
BTAEERBEINTEHRERE
TERERS R ERNZERH
C#F AIAEEEFEZER 2T
4

MARREEXEEEERIRES
IR ERESALUEN AR KR A
FEARBHRRETREHEE
g - AKEEEEMAMEBSTE
RER - B

@ BZIWEETEHMOREERE
BAZEHRG:

b)) REEMBEODLHEMZEEZ
AR

© AEBZRERREBEERER
o

TREZWHHRERIZEAERNRAREF
ZHREPRGRHE  YRBER X
ZEFHR - FRAIZEERASR
BRSEHRZBESAEAR X
BEGAANBREEREEBES
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(a) Basis of preparation (continuea)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity;, and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREBEH)
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continuea) (a) MEEE®)

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in light of the
fact that as at 31 March 2020, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$124,283,000
(2019 approximately HK$17,961,000) and a capital
deficiency of approximately HK$128,109,000 (2019:
approximately HK$178,267,000).

The Directors reviewed the Group’s financial and
liquidity position, and have taken the following
actions to mitigate the liquidity issues faced by the
Group:

(@ possible fund raising activities including, but not
limited to placing, rights issues or open offer
and issuance of convertible bonds are to be
attempted;

BELERE
ERN_ETE_TEF=ZA=+—8"
REBZRBAEFEERRAE
4 o Bl A #9124,283,0007 T (=
T — L F 917,961,000 TT) B 4
128,109,000 T (= T — L &F: 4
178,267,000/8 JT) * M 4R & 42 & B
BHRER ARAEZEHF(EHHE
BEEREALEEZARTHESHK
SR o

EXEEHNAKREMBRABES
AR WERBRIATTE  FEK
SEHHzRBESHE:

@ BWETEEEAIRNEE -
HRIXAHABERZTAR
BESZAEEE RS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(a) Basis of preparation (continuea)

Going concern basis (Continued)

(b) the Group is in negotiation with financial
institutions and the Company’s bondholders
for new borrowings and extensions of existing
borrowings and convertible bonds upon due
dates and applying for future credit facilities;
and

(c) the management plans to improve the Group’s
financial performance by taking steps to reduce
discretionary expenses and administrative costs
and exploring new business which will provide
a growing and recurring source of income.

In light of the measures and arrangements as
described above, the Directors consider the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
their financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern basis, adjustments would have to
be made to restate the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
potential adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs

2. EXGEE®

(b) REFERFERZHETR

that are mandatorily effective for the
current year
In the current year, the Group has adopted the

following amended HKFRSs and HKASs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with

HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment
HKAS 19 or Settlement
Amendments to Long-term Interests in
HKAS 28 Associates and Joint
Ventures
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSS HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREHEH)
(Continued)

(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs (b) REAFERFERZHITR

90

that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
of application on HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time
in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

Key changes in accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 16

The Group applied the following accounting policies
in accordance with the transition provisions of HKFRS
16.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to
apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease and not apply this standards to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing
a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of
initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
1 April 2019, the Group applies the definition of a
lease in accordance with the requirements set out in
HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a
lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2019. Any difference at the date
of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits and comparative information has not
been restated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & Bt #| &RHist

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs

2. EXGEE®

(b) REFERFERZHETR

that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

Key changes in accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

i. relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review;

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for leases with lease term
ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application;

iii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application;

iv.  applied relevant incremental borrowing rates to
each lease contract; and

v.  used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group's leases with extension
and termination options.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs

2. EXEHBES)

(b) RAFEBRH EMZHETR

that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

Key changes in accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continueq)

On transition, the Group has made the following
adjustments upon application of HKFRS 16:

The Group recognised lease liabilities of
approximately HK$467,000 and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$431,000 at 1 April 2019.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases

REITZERUBHREER
(%)
ERAEEMBEREEAEICH
SR EERHRERBE(H)
fEREEA(H)

RIBER  AEEEREREEH
BRI E16RE LA THE

R-ZE-NAFOA—H AEBE#H®
R E A E#%467,000% T & E A
7 & E #9431,000% 7T ©

RBENHEARKEHEZHER

MEHNARCHEREERER A
SECRERERABHNEAEBE

previously classified as operating leases and
obligation under finance leases, the Group has
applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant EEREEGERAE - IEARC
group entities at the date of initial application. The MEFHEABAREERINEE
weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing 18% o

rate applied is 18%.

At 1 April 2019

RZZE-hnE
mMA—A
HK$°000
FTHT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZE-NWFZAZ+—HEBEBEZE%E
31 March 2019 e FE 1,006

Less: Commitments relating to lease exempt from & : B#A G &AL 2 S HBEAE:
capitalisation:
Short-term leases and other leases with
remaining lease term ending on or before 31

RBPRERFBRBERAN_Z-NEF
ZA=Zt+—HgZRERZ

March 2019 HME (398)
Discounting effect using the incremental RZE-NFHA—AFERERERER

borrowing rate as at 1 April 2019 F = ALIR (141)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 RZE—NFUNA—HBRRAZHEARE 467
Analysed as ki

Current B &R 442

Non-current JEBNEA 25

467
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXRBTHE®
(Continued)
(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs (b) REFERFBERZHFITR

that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

Key changes in accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1
April 2019 comprises the following:

BRI z2BEBMBREER
(%)
ERERMBEHRELEEI6H
SIBZEREAREE (F)

ERBEMA(E)
RZZE-NEFHUAR-—BZERESE
ERAESHENLTSE:

HK$'000
Fk T

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases HERBANBRELEF16KERR
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 CEEHEB A FREEE 431

The following tables summarise the impacts of
applying HKFRS 16 as a lessee on the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
April 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Non-current assets FERBEE
Right-of-use assets CHREEE

Current liabilities mEBBE
Lease liabilities HEERE

Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE

TRBIIERERBAERRETBY
BRELENFIGCRBAEEAR -F
—NEHNA-BZHEAMBRR K
ZHE AXBREHTEZIER
HBTIHEBREESD ©

Carrying amount
previously Carrying amount
reported at under HKFRS 16
31 March 2019 Adjustments  at 1 April 2019
BRIRE BB

BER & 2RI 165K
—TNEF R-ZT—h&E
=A=+—8H mMA—HZ
EHRZEHEE HE FREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

= 431 431
= 442 442
S 25 25
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREHEH)
(Continued)

(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs (b) REAFERFERZHITR
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that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (continued)

Key changes in accounting policies resulting

from application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from
operating activities under indirect method for the
year ended 31 March 2020, movements in working
capital have been computed based on opening
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
April 2019 as disclosed above

In accordance with the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 16, the Group is not required to make any
adjustment on transition for leases in which the
Group is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial
application and comparative information has not
been restated.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts
entered into but commence after the date of initial
application relating to the same underlying assets
under existing lease contracts are accounted as if
the existing leases are modified as at 1 April 2019.
The application has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April
2019. However, effective 1 April 2019, lease payments
relating to the revised lease term after modification
are recognised as income on straight-line basis over
the extended lease term.

Transition to HKFRS 16 does not have impact on
accumulated losses at 1 April 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) New and Amendments to HKFRSs in
Issue But Not Yet Effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs and HKASs that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 3
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets

2. EXGEE®

(c) EHEMEEREMZHET R

REATEBMBREER
AEEL AR RHUTERME
MRERZHTREETEEDR
BRELAREE G RA -

ERUBHREEN RBALS
F175%
EBMBEREEN XEBzER?
E3%R (BFA)
ERUBREELEN REZHEBLERA

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to

between an Investor and its
Associates or Joint Ventures

COVID-19 Related Rent
concessions4

Definition of Material

FRREEE HRERARZE

HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS Reform’
39 and HKFRS 7

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

2 Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
June 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of these will have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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(Continued)

(c) New and Amendments to HKFRSS in
Issue But Not Yet Effective (continuea)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The amendments:

add an optional concentration test that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business.
The election on whether to apply the optional
concentration test is available on transaction-
by-transaction basis,

clarify that to be considered a business,
an acquired set of activities and assets
must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

narrow the definition of a business and of
outputs by focusing on goods and services
provided to customers and by removing the
reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all
business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
January 2020, with earlier application permitted.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 are not expected to

have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

2. EXGBE®

(c) ERMEEARENRZHE
REBTERMBREER

(&
8 B 1 3 25 % B S35 (5 5 &)
®RHES

AT

s MAEBUMKEHERA
BBy —EEasRE
ERTBREBKNFMGE-F
RENXZEEZREILRE
REEUEMERERNR:

s RBEREEEHWMA/ER I
BN —MHEBREENLAR
LEEARYBAEELREN
EEREMONBRAREL M
mig &

s BBEINAETFPMEMHD
EmkiR® - UBKRYEEHS
RABE DR - WE XK
RELWEE °

ZEEFTARBERRKEARS =
E_TFE-A-BHZKRHAMRNE
HEEEREHREMABERRZRE
THRBERBAMHREERE 7
SAFFIRATEA -

EMBRBM RS ENFEIRUER
RITEHAKEEZEAMHRE
ELEERTE -
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) New and Amendments to HKFRSS in

2. EXGEE®

(c) ERMEEARENRZHF]

Issue But Not Yet Effective (continuea)

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2019 (the “New Framework”) and
the Amendments

The New Framework:

reintroduces the terms stewardship and
prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses
on rights and a new liability definition that
is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value
measures, and provides additional guidance
on how to select a measurement basis for a
particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that
only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from a change in
the current value of an asset or liability; and

J discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined
financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to
the New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still
referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with
earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions
of the framework, the Group will rely on the New
Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions,
events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt
with under the accounting standards.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies
Investments in associates

Pt 5 R R P R

2. EXGBE®

(d)

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but

not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of other comprehensive

income,

respectively. In addition, when there has

been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the

Group’s investments in associates.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from

disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and

Discontinued Operations.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Fair value measurement

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED
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The Group measures its derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the RENEEFBEZETEMGE
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or FRABEEMHZBZERT - E‘Jﬁé
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal %TEEEEJZE\%E%%%UZ‘W%L?? °
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence FENEAENTSARREEEE
of a principal market, in the most advantageous AT . é?i%&azﬁ LB
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the ENMELHEREEXBETE
most advantageous market must be accessible by FFAZBRFE(EREMELEE
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability KRBESE2REZLBEMNETSE) -

is measured using the assumptions that market

participants would use when pricing the asset or

liability, assuming that market participants act in their

economic best interest.
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A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its

highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

100

(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation technigues for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation technigues for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

2. EXGBE®

d) EXEHABERED)

DMREFEGE)

REEMBRERFEIBEELR
BEZHEEEREE BREHRA
REFEEREBEZ L REES
ABERETHEAERARERBRRT®

\KE -
oA

F—E — REEAREEXEER
WS 2 REBORE

/%)

ey

EF_E —REBEGHESTE EPY
RAREBAEBERZ
REEGARBERTE
EXEEERE

il

REERE EdY
RAREAEBEZEZ
REBHABERSTH

BR

B
[1]
TE]

BREGAVBRRAFEEE
AZEERAE AKERER
AREFEEEBERZLREE
BABBERE2RMREHFMHE
DECNEEERZAEEHARSE

% o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREBEH)
(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting (d EXEFBHEREL)

policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
other than inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment 10ss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

102

(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person, or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent; or
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity),

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity), and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter
of the lease
terms and 10%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Leasehold improvements
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss

and included in administrative expenses.

Customer relationship 4 years
Club membership 29.5 years

Tradename with indefinite useful lives is tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for

on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the intangible asset and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the

intangible asset is derecognised.

Leases
Applicable from 1 April 2019
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
or modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
AS a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of leasehold properties that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option.

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
AS a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property in
“property, plant and equipment”, the same line item
as that with which the corresponding underlying
assets would be presented if they were owned. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “investment
properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Taxation

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
AS a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments
(including in-substance fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in
the combined statements of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment;

o the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable before 1 April 2019
AS a lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives
are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EREBEH)
(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting (d EXEFBHEREL)

policies (continued)
Financial Instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments and on a trade date
basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only
when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash
flows from the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group
transfers the financial asset and either (a) the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it
does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for the
amounts it may have to pay.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGBE®

d) EXEHABERED)

112

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without
a significant financing component) are initially
recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of
financial assets not carried at fair value though
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.
Such trade receivables are initially measured at their
transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“Mandatory FVOCI”); (i) equity investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("Designated FVOCI"); or (iv) measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting
period following the change in the business model (the
“reclassification date”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXGEE®
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting (d EXEFBHEREL)
policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued) E®MITAE)
Financial assets (Continuead) ETHEEE)
Classification and measurement (Continued) SHEREE(E)
1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1) HEEKATENLHEE
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost fir] & Bt & E B B F & AT &
if it meets both of the following conditions and " BUEETRALER
is not designated as at FVPL: AEm AlZeREERSE
HA ARG &
() it is held within a business model whose () ZemEEHR—EEH®
objective is to hold financial assets in BRBEESHEE W
order to collect contractual cash flows; BHRENEZEBHBE
and BN i = I
(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified (i GHEFINREETABRE
dates to cash flows that are solely EvREeEREMAREX
payments of principal and interest on the NAxERRKEERE 2
principal amount outstanding. FE o
Financial assets at amortised cost are REHEKANENEREE
subsequently measured using the effective EFRERMNEEFENL
interest rate method and are subject to AleEE HIRFE o BE - KiE
impairment. Gains and losses arising from MAIEHEBEFEENK
impairment, derecognition or through the HREERBEEPHER -
amortisation process are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

114

2)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets
that are not measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that
are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant
gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if itis:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking
on initial recognition; or

(il a derivative that is not a financial
guarantee contract or not a designated
and effective hedging instrument.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract
in which a host is an asset within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are not separated from the host.
Instead, the entire hybrid contract is assessed
for classification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

2)

3)

Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains or losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets designated at FVOC/

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in
an equity instrument that is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies in other comprehensive
income. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

These equity investments are subsequently
measured at fair value and are not subject to
impairment. Dividends are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and shall not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. The
Group's financial assets at designated FVOCI
included all available-for-sales financial assets.
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(d) EXEHBERED
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting

Pt 5 R R P R

2. EXGBE®

(d)

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only
when the liability is extinguished, that is, when
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and
other payables and accruals, borrowings, lease
liabilities, bond and interest payable, amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and a director. All financial liabilities except for
derivatives are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, unless the effect of
discounting would be insignificant, in which case
they are stated at cost.

A day-one gain or loss arises when the transaction
price for a liability differs from the fair value used to
measure it on initial recognition. Such gain or loss is
deferred on initial recognition when the fair value is
not evidenced by a quoted price in an active market
for an identical liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based
on a valuation technique that use only date from
observable markets. After initial recognition, the
deferred gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
that it arises from a change in a factor (including
time) that market participants would take into
account which pricing the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost, contract assets, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts
issued to which the impairment requirements apply
in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date,
the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial
asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the
credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit

losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value
of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to an entity under the contract and the
cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based
on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(i)  past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets
any of the following criteria.

(i)  information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 180 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
iS more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 180 days past due.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date and has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &&

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired include observable data about the
following events:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(Vi)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event.

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

the purchase or origination of a financial asset
at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the
Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering
the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in
its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a
policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when
the financial asset is 1 year past due based on
historical experience of recoveries of similar assets.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s procedures for recovery
of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised
in profit or loss.

convertible Bonds

The convertible bond satisfied “fixed-for-fixed”
condition.

The component parts of the convertible bonds are
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
an equity instrument.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
convertible Bonds (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option
classified as equity will remain in equity until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. When the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible
bonds, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or 10ss
is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are recognised directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and are amortised over the lives of
the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognhised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time
is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level
of repairs and returns, discounted to their present
values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.
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(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or

recovered.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income from financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding

and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the

Group is as follows:

o Service income from advertising and movie

production and distribution
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer

and identifies as a performance obligation each
promise to transfer to the customer either:

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or
service either on its own or together with
other resources that are readily available to the
customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of
being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good
or service to the customer is separately
identifiable from other promises in the contract
(i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service
is distinct within the context of the contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a
customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the

customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service
over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one

of the following criteria is met:

i. the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or

iii. the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time,
the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of
the promised asset. In determining when the transfer
of control occurs, the Group considers the concept
of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer

acceptance.

Service income from advertising and movie
production and distribution recognise over time when

services are rendered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographic area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued
operation, a single amount is presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, which
comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continueq)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the change in the fair
value of the options, measured immediately before
and after the modification, is also recognised in profit
or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Summary of significant accounting

2. EXGEE®

(d) EXEHBERED

policies (continued)
Other employee benefits (Continued)
Pension scheme (Continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries, which
operate in the PRC, are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Summary of significant accounting
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2. EXGBE®

(d)

policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity (the exchange reserve).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Going concern basis and liquidity

Management makes an assessment of the Group’s ability
to continue as going concern basis when preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The Group is dependent
upon the upcoming business performance, and the
successful implementation and outcome of the measures
as set forth in note 2(a) in order to meet the Group's future
working capital and financing requirement.

In assessing whether or not the going concern basis
assumption is appropriate, management takes into
account all available information about the future, which
is at least but is not limited to, cash flows forecast for
twelve months from the reporting date of the consolidated
financial statements. Should the Group be unable to
raise new financing or other measures fail to improve the
liquidity of the Group and the Group is unable to continue
in business as a going concern basis, adjustments would
be needed to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets
of the Group to their recoverable amount and, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit (“CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivable and loan receivables based on risk
of a default and expected loss rate. The assessment of
the credit risk involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty as the Group's management estimates the
risk of a default and expected loss rate for applying
provision matrix on debtors based on the Group's
historical information, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. For details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL, please refer to note 21 and
22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continuea)
Loss allowance for ECL (continued)

In order to recognise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group
closely monitors the collectability of trade debtors at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that the amounts are
recoverable. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group applies a simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables from initial
recognition. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss
rates are based on the historical payment profiles of sales
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions in accordance with the prevailing tax
regulations and makes tax provision accordingly. However,
judgement is required in determining the Group’s provision
for income taxes as there are transactions and calculations
of which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact on
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the periods in
which such determination is made.

Useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and consequent related amortisation rate (if
any) for its other intangible assets. These estimates are
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of comparable intangible assets in related industries.
Actual economic life may vary from estimated useful life.
Periodic review could result in a change in useful lives
and consequently increase or decrease in amortisation
expenses.

Useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the residual values,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual residual
value and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where residual values or useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation in
the future periods.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loan receivables, trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, amount due to a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and a director,
borrowings, lease liabilities, bond and interest
payables and convertible bonds. The carrying
amounts of each of the categories of financial

B S R B R
(@) MBEBEERFEREE

AEBZIESRTABRERAR
BEifABEzoMEE  BEER
Zo R - Hab U RIE R IR
© BHEMNER EMEMNZE
MEAER BT —RIEE
BERRERE—BEERE -BFE M
EAE  BHEHFEMNE RATHK
BEH RERPAR SELBMTH
ZEEBENT:

instruments as at the end of the reporting are as

follows:
2020
—E-BF
HK$°000
FHET
Financial assets tRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through QAR B AEBZEZ & @
profit or loss BE 202 3,160
Financial assets at amortised cost: 2 8 58 K AR B BR A
TENEE:
Loan receivables EWE R - 4,416
Trade receivables H 5 W RN 10,000 25,440
Other receivables and deposits EmERRIBELRIZS
(excluding prepayments) (T BEEMARE) 260 5,882
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEY 149 2,220
10,409 37,958
10,611 41,118
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: iR # 5k Nzt 28 ~
SRIBE:
Trade payables Z S EMNIRR 7,677 18,890
Other payables and accruals B fth JE S FRIB K
FEETE H 23,094 16,163
Amount due to a non-controlling A FRR—RIEER
shareholder of a subsidiary &% B A 4,198 709
Amount due to a director B —REEHIA 820 1,120
Borrowings BE 16,366 20,818
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 -
Bond and interest payable e E AR A B 3,938 =
Convertible bonds R ES 80,753 162,630
136,871 220,330
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, equity price risk,
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.
The Group’s accounting policies are set out in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.

140

(M

(i)

Interest rate risk

The interest rate of the Group’s borrowings
is disclosed in note 28. As the Group has no
significant variable interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rate. The Group adopts centralised treasury
policies in cash and financial management and
focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses. The Directors are of the opinion that
the Group's sensitivity to the change in interest
rate is low.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from listed equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The Directors manage this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk profiles.

At 31 March 2020, if the market price of the
listed equity securities had increased/decreased
by 10% with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s loss after income tax would
have been approximately HK$20,000 (2019:
approximately HK$811,000) lower/higher.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 4. MEEEER®

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) MEEBEEEERBE &)

and policies (continuea)

(iii) Currency risk (iii) 5% AR
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair BEEERAREEsRIAEZAR
value or future cash flows of a financial B AKRBEERERIERE
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in REHMHR LIS ZRER -
foreign exchange rates. The transactions and UARBHEZRGRE®.
monetary assets and liabilities denominated EENBEGRD  BMAKE
in RMB is minimal, the Group considers there ReBULEBEBEBAREZERXR
has no significant foreign exchange risk in HNEE R P o AR £ B IR B D 4R
respect of RMB. The Group currently does not EEREREPERK EERE
have a hedging policy on currency risk but the ERBERFERHAHPEK
management would consider hedging significant SN BEE [ fg2 o
foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
The policies to manage currency risk have been AEB-—BEsABAFEZ
followed by the Group in prior years and are EE¥RRBREREREK BRE
considered to be effective. HEEBREM -
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4.

142

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2020, the credit risk of the
Group is primarily attributable to trade
receivable, deposits and other receivables,
loans receivables and bank balances.

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk
management, maximum credit risk exposures
and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarized as below:

In respect of trade receivable and deposits
and other receivables, in order to minimise
risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations of its debtors’ financial
position and condition are performed on
each and every major debtor periodically.
These evaluations focus on the debtor’s
past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to
the debtor as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the
debtor operates. The Group does not
require collateral in respect of its financial
assets. Debts are usually due between 90
and 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group's exposure to credit risk of
trade receivable and deposits and other
receivables is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each debtor.
At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentration of credit
risk as 100% (2019: 30%) and 100% (2019:
72%) of the total trade receivable and
deposits and other receivables were due
from the Group's largest debtor and the
five largest debtors respectively.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Com‘mued)

(Continued)

The Group's customer base consists of
a wide range of clients and the trade
receivables are categorised by common
risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL
for trade receivables and recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date and has established
a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment
The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each
category based on actual credit loss
experience over the past three years and
adjusted for current and forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic
conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables. There was no change in
the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of
loans and advances to customers for each
stage is represented by the net carrying
amount of each type of financial assets
as at the end of the reporting periods
The details are set out in note 22 to these
financial statements.

Further guantitative data in respect of
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from loans business are disclosed in note
4 to these financial statements.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Com‘/nued)

144

In respect of loans receivable, the Group
has adopted procedures in extending
credit terms to loan borrowers and in
monitoring its credit risk. The credit
policy on extending credit terms to
loan borrowers includes assessing
and evaluating loan borrowers’
creditworthiness and financial standing.
Management also closely monitors
all outstanding debts and reviews
the collectability of loans receivable
periodically.

When a certain number of customers
undertake the same business activities,
stay in the same geographical locations,
or bear similar economic features for their
industries, their ability to fulfil contracts
will be affected by the same economic
changes. Concentration of credit risk
reflects the sensitivity of the Group's
operating results to a particular industry
or geographic location. As the Group
mainly conducts microfinance business in
Hong Kong, a certain level of geographical
concentration risk exists for its loan
portfolios in that it might be affected by
changes of economic conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, nil
(2019: 52%) and nil (2019: 100%) of the
total loans receivable was due from the
Group’s largest borrower and the five
largest borrowers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of
loans and advances to customers for each
stage is represented by the net carrying
amount of each type of financial assets
as at the end of the reporting periods.
The details are set out in note 21 to these
financial statements.

Further guantitative data in respect of
the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from loans business are disclosed in note
4 to these financial statements.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Com‘mued)

The credit risk on bank balances are
limited because the counterparties are
mainly banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group adopts a risk classification
approach to manage its financial instruments
portfolio risk. Financial instruments are
categorised into the following stages by the
Group:

Stage 1

Financial instruments have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised on
the basis of 12 months expected credit
losses (12-month ECLS).

Stage 2

Financial instruments have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment is recognised
on the basis of lifetime expected credit
losses (Lifetime ECLS non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Financial instruments that are in default
and considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired). The Group applies
the new ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loans and advances
to customers.
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BERETER €8I
BZEERBEELM -

FoEER
BEHBWRAEERE
(EEREZZHESE
BEEBE)ZeMmIA - &
EERBFEHEES
BEAGEREFREHE
MERKRBRZBERS
gg o

EREEBRERAT —T-LEEH 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #r& B %% 8k 3% M 5

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. BMEEKRERE®)
(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) MERBREEEERKE®)
and policies (continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continueq)
The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

(iv) EE = b &R ETMGE)

AEBEHAEEERRFR
BREATER

146

Internal credit rating

A5 EFR

Description

RS

Financial assets at
amortised cost
REBEBAGTEN

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of 12m ECL
default and does not have any past-
due amounts
1K = B HFFNELNARRRE WEERN REABRREEESSE
el e o
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full
BREEE EBALERIBERER B8 REARHAEEESE

BERREMNB

Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL - not credit-
increases in credit risk since initial impaired
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources
17 &% WMBAFHIIBERGEOER HEREEEE-&F
THRIBVSEAUREERR ERE
FE N
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - credit-
asset is credit-impaired impaired
Bx EBBRRPZEECHREERE 2HEHEEEFE-FE
WA
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
38 ERBRABRBAERBRENNT HMiEeHE

PR R R AN R A E BR O We 3 A

8
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 4. BHERER®

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) MERBREEEERBE®)
and policies (continuea)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iv) EERBRBENMGE)
(Continued)

2020
St 33
Gross
External credit Internal 12m or carrying Loss carrying

rating credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount allowance
12183525

ABEERER  ABRETR RAGEER RHARE ERRfE FEfAE EEAR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEn TiEn ThL THL

Loan receivables N/A L0ss Life-time ECL 4,967 4,967 4433 17
— credit-mpaired
ERER TER B cHEHEERE
-EERE
Trade receivables N/A Doubtful Life-time ECL 31,364 21,364 40,265 14,825
— non credit-impaired
B5RUEH TER Fi cHEHEERE
FEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A Doubtful Life-time ECL 2,852 2,592 8,481 2,599
— non credit-impaired
ReREMERTE TER Fi cHEHEERE
-HEERE
Bank balances Baatorabove  N/A 12mECL 149 - 2200 -
&8 Baa 15 b £ TR PEREH
FEBE
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 4.

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of
loss allowances that has been recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost:

BXERERZ)
(@) BHEBREEEERBE &)

(iv) FEER b RBERTMGE)
TRIIRE 5% %35 K ARG

ECHMHBEERAZEER
(GPA3E

Stage 1

12m ECL
B EX1

EEBR
HK$'000
TATL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL -
(not credit-
impaired)

B% £z 2

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL -
(credit-
impaired)

B5 E2 3

BHE)  (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Fis T

HK$'000
TR

As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F
ZA=Z+—H = - - _
Impact on adoption of RmA BB RELE
HKFRS 9 AFEIR T E 15 4,965 - 4,980
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NF
mA—H 15 4,965 - 4,980
Impairment losses recognised 2% A E & 18 2 12,459 - 12,461
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-N%F
=A=+—H 17 17,424 - 17,441
Changes due to financial RZE-NENA—-
instruments recognised as AR AR
at 1 April 2019: TAE4Z®
— Transfer - B (17) - 17 =
Written off of impairment losses # £ . & 18 % S (35) S (35)
Impairment losses recognised 2% A {E 1B - 6,567 4,950 11,517
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF
=ZA=+-H - 23,956 4,967 28,923
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)

(v)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and an availability of
funding through the ability to close-out market
positions. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group should have adequate resources to meet
its obligation in the forthcoming year on the
basis set out in note 2(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the reporting date of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the reporting date)
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

At 31 March 2020

4.

Ondemand  Within 1 year

BREX
HKS'000
TiEn

-ER
HKS'000
TiEn

BEERERZ)
(@) BHEBEEEERKE (&)

(v)

Within
1t0 2 years
-2RER

HKS'000
TiEn

REBESRER
EERDESRBREEES
BRMEFRZENTER
wRehARIRES - &
ERB BREKAMBHRK
i sE2@ Fral  AEBESHEA
RREREEEARERT -

TERFIAEEFETET R
BERSHREAHAZHRTAELH
FEHBER BTIREASLNHK
MEARRERBERITON
RH(ERFRIRBEAHRZ
BIR A RS E 2 F B 0 A
EAREEAEAFELEXNZ
REBHMMEL:

R-ZE-Z2H=A=t+-—R

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
LS
ReREAR
HKS'000
TER

carrying
Over 2 years amount
RARE
HKS$'000

THT

H
HKS'000
F47

Tratle payables E5RNAE 7,611 - - - 7,671 1,671
Other payables and accruals oA 38 R et
B 23,094 - - - 23,094 23,094
Amount due to a non- ENTAR-S3E
controling sharenolder of RRFEE
a subsidiary 4,198 - - - 4,198 4,198
Amount due to a director EN-4E%58 820 - - - 820 820
Borrowings [E8 15,847 519 - - 16,366 16,366
Bond and interest payable  EREHRFIE - 276 318 4,406 5,000 3,938
Convertible bonds ThkES - 86,400 - - 86,400 80,753
Lease liabiities HEAR - 2 - - 2 25
51,636 87,221 318 4,406 143,581 136,871
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 4. BHERERE®E

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) MERBREEEERKE®)

and policies (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) ZsELRAmRE)
At 31 March 2020, the Group had net current RZEZZFEF=HA=+—H"
liabilities of approximately HK$124,283,000 and AEERDEBRFELNA
net liabilities of approximately HK$128,109,000. 124,283,000 7T © m & & /F
The directors have taken steps to improve F #) £128,109,000/8 JT ° Q1 4R
the Group's liquidity position and mitigate B BmMRMA2AEE &
its liquidity risk as disclosed in note 2 to the EERDBHEANRNSEAER
consolidated financial statements. T B 1 AR R R Rk 8S B B 1

[2, B o

At 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=A=+—H

Total contractual

Within undiscounted Carying
Ondemand  Within 1 year Tto2years — Qver2years cash flow amount
BREX —ER —EMER BRRE 3 ; REfE
HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn THL THIL THIL j j
Trade payables B5ENFE 567 18323 = = 18890 18890
Other payables and accruals — EH R 318 R B3t
ER 16,163 o S S 16,163 16,163
Amount due to anon- ERFRR-L5E
controlling sharenolder of RERHE
a subsidiary 709 - - - 709 709
Amount due to a director ER-2820% 1120 - - - 1120 1120
Borrowings &g 943 11383 - - 20818 20818
Convertible bonds ThRES - 13,566 176,040 - 189,406 162,630
27.99% B3I 176,040 - 27306 203
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(b) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Group's financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as
the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value

Financial assets

2020

b 323

HK$'000

THERT

Financial assets at fair value 202
through profit or loss

BRAREFABRBZERMEE

There is no transfer between different levels of the
fair value hierarchy for the year ended 31 March
2020.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The management of the Group estimates the fair
value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the
discounted cash flows analysis.

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate at their fair values.

as at 31 March
R=B=+—-Hz2 A

BEERERZ)
(b) €M IENAAENE

4.

BREEEE]
BEMEEZ

nE
fE

JuL

FFERZAKE

>R

AEBZAREBEFABRRZEME
ERREPARRBRAIAEAFE - TK
RENNETZFEREEQN
B2 & # (552 A A E R
BARBE) UARBRAREFEM
ERzBABBZABRERESA
REFAEEDZARERBR(E—
BMEF=/) -

Fair value Valuation technique and
hierarchy key inputs

ARAEER HERTREERAZE
2019

—E-NF
HK$'000
FET

3,160 Level 1 Quoted share prices in an
active market
E—, BHORERTH2RE

RE-T-TF=A=+-AL#F
g FRERZANEFR AL
AT -

UHBREEEEUQAARETEZ
rEESHEERERAGEZA
RE

AEEEEEERMBRARER
M O fl BT AN 55 B 4% H AR AN AT
ZERMEENERABZIANGE

N
7]

=
=28

AEBEEER/REAMBM
MERBEHRAINEZEREE
Ae@maEREAEEQARERESE -
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

152

(c) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure on an
annual basis and makes adjustments to it in the
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. Based on
the review, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through raising or repayment of borrowings,
bond insurance, share pricing and repayment of debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total
debts divided by total assets. At the reporting years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group's gearing
ratio was 972.5% and 419.2%, respectively.

Farnova Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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BXERERZ)
(c) EXE®E

AEBEAEEZTEARARE
AEBZFHBEEER IR BHRR
ZERLE - ABEEBRMEH
ERBREERSEE-

AEEZERAGEBESEBRAR
AEAEANEBGEEZ(BROBTR
AR fER)

AEESFRANEANEE  LRE
REANEHREEEE 2 AR
HEBIELHAE - REABRE K
SEEEERAEANEE BHTE
F BN EEREEEH FEHEER
BENERE -

AEBRBEEABHXERASE
Ao BEBRE L RIZEBFRERN
EEREHE REBE-_ZT-F
M—_ZE-NF=A=+—HBILHRSE
FE -AKEEZEERELED S
#972.5% 5.419.2% o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4r& Bt #3R RHisE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ Advertising: provision of advertising and movie
production and distribution in Hong Kong;

(b) Money lending: provision of mortgage loans and
short- term loans in Hong Kong; and

(c) Securities investments: investments and trading of
securities in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group disposed
of the entire equity interests in Super Car Service
Company Limited which engaged in provision of car beauty
and maintenance services in Hong Kong. Accordingly, the
Group's car beauty operation was treated as discontinued
operation. The segment information reported below does
not include any amounts for the discontinued operation
which is disclosed in note 13.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit or loss before income tax. The adjusted profit or
loss before income tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit or loss before income tax except that bank
interest income, finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

5.

e BEFR
RERANME  FEERERR RS

BHRBEL  SAUT=ETSRE

w5

@ EE REBRHEEEARELE
fER BT

by ME-REBFRARHERBERREH
A

MEBEBETEFRER

€ BFH
BE

RBE_Z-NF=ZA=+—RHILFE "
AEBHEERBERIA 2K
B ZEEREENERHEIEXAR
MERBZES At AKEZ2TE
IEEBRBEREREREEEH - TX
ERMZHEHENL T BIEM E13MKE
ZERIERERBZEMETE -

EEEEREEASELEN M IRE
UERBBEERNERRBFEZRE -
DERRILBIET ERABRGAEHA
i N 2k B 18 2 R 2 3o BB R N 3 e 1B
1TPfh - RABKRAMS DA G N & 18
Z 5T B BN H BRI S AT i A k& 18
ZEAETA - HERITMEBA B
B e 8 5 FpE I 1 PSR AR
ABHTE -
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REER #)
(Continued)
Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, corporate PHEETEREEEHRIBEEE XX
and unallocated assets and assets relating to discontinued RAOBEENNHEERIEKCEELTEH
operation. Z&

= o
=

)
RS
ERHH

ETRREEEHRBEAG ATBRK
RASRBEARBED &L

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities,
convertible bonds, corporate and unallocated liabilities

and liabilities relating to discontinued operation. KEXBE BB 2 AE -
(@) Segment Results (a) P EWEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-_ZF=A=+—HL#TF
B
Money  Securities
Advertising landing investments
B Hi& BERE @5t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER FER THET
Segment revenue A HAA
Sales to external customers HETHNBEP 20,000 534 - 20,534
Segment results NEEE (7,315) (4,436) (1,210) (12,961)
Reconciliation: HE:
Unallocated gains Ao B 8
Finance costs BERA (14,366)
Corporate and other rEREMADE
unallocated expenses & (21,352)
Loss before income tax BREERAER (48,671)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REBER &)
(Continued)
(@) Segment Results (continued) (@) 7 EEEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE_Z—NEF=ZA=1+—HIEHF
i3
Securities
Advertising Money landing  investments
BE 8 BHREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FTHEL THEL AL
Segment revenue 2 EBRA
Sales to external customers BETHNBEP 27,623 438 - 28,061
Segment results DEEE 3,895 425 - 4,320
Reconciliation: R -
Interest income FEKA 1
Unallocated gains Ao Bz 813
Finance costs BEKA (27,994)
Corporate and other rEREMRSE
unallocated expenses 53 (27,656)
Loss before income tax GRERAEE (50,516)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5, REHIER ()
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) »HEEREE
At 31 March 2020 R=-Z-Z2F=A=+—H

Money  Securities

Advertising landing investments Total
B& BE BERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THET THET THT
Segment assets PHEE 10,255 11 243 10,509
Reconciliation; R
Corporate and other rEREMAIEEE
unallocated assets —488
Total assets BEE 10,997
Segment liabilities 2HEE 9,912 8 1,069 10,989
Reconciliation: HE:
Convertible bonds B ER 80,753
Corporate and other rEREMARSBEE
unallocated liabilities 47,364
Total liabilities BEE 139,106
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. K& PEXR =
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) »HEERERBE)
(Continued)
At 31 March 2019 R-E—hhE=A=+—8
Securities

Advertising  Money landing  investments Total

BE HE BERE i =t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT TET TAT

Segment assets TREE 27,700 4,427 5,282 37,409

Reconciliation: HEE:

Corporate and other PEREMRS R

unallocated assets BE 6,889

Total assets BEE 44,298

Segment liabilities SHEE 25,324 8 2,883 28,215

Reconciliation: R

Convertible bonds R ES 162,630
Corporate and other rEREMRDE

unallocated liabilities a1 31,720

Total liabilities BaE 222,565
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5, REHIER ()
(Continueq)
(c) Other Segment Information (c) Hfttym HE R
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-_ZF=A=+—HL#E
E
Money  Securities

Advertising landing investments Total
B BE EERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TERT TAERT THERT
Depreciation il 1,722 - - 1,722
Unallocated depreciation XOEWE 725
2,447

Amortisation of other Hi\mm &
intangible assets 7 7

For the year ended 31 March 2019 é%:%‘@—ﬂizﬂz—f——aﬁi
Securities

Advertising  Money landing  investments Total
B & HEARRE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTAET THET TAET
Depreciation e 42 - - 42
Unallocated depreciation ROBRTE 270
312

Amortisation of other HthEVEESEE
intangible assets 3 3
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REBER &)

(Continued)

Geographical information ih & & B

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's TREHBEBASEREFESEER
revenue from external customers from continuing ZHHEBRRPRARERDEECRELER
operations and non-current assets other than deferred tax HEERINZDHT °

assets.

2019
—E—NF

HK$ 000
T

Revenue from external customers #HIFEFK A

Hong Kong BE 20,534 27,824
The PRC Fh = 237
20,534 28,061
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FA T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Hong Kong B 112 218
The PRC Fh = 2,106
112 2,324
The geographical location of customers is based on the EPAAEMIBAE DREBHERBE N
location at which the services were provided or the goods EMZUEE D - ERBEEMEME
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current NEDNREEZCEBRRKEEMNES S -
assets is based on the physical and operating location RAARARBREAMK LT ETERSF
of the assets. The Company is an investment holding BREZIREBERRAR -
company incorporated in Bermuda and mainly operated in
Hong Kong.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the year from continuing
operations ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are generated

from advertising business as follow:

reEFER &)

FEEXEFZzEH
HE-_Z-_ZFRKR_ZFT—NLF=ZA
S+ ALBELEEBFE  REE
EEBEREAEERABBEHRGLEBA
102 BFRZMT :

2019
—E—NF
HK$'000
FE T
Customer A PR 14,000 8,800
Customer B BRZ - 5,250
Customer C ZFR 6,000 =
6. REVENUE A

2019

HK$'000
TAT

Continuing operations HEREER
Film related business and advertising BYHEBEBRESRY
service income A 20,000 27,623

Money lending income & WA 534 438
20,534 28,061

Timing of revenue recognition: WAERER:

A point in time X —EHEZ 20,000 8,800

Over the time B - 18,823
20,000 27,623

The revenue from contracts with customer are solely

EPFAHNBRAEREEXHBEBLE
EOR WERX—FHEMERRA -

160

derived from film related business and advertising segment
and under a point in time revenue recognition.
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REVENUE (continuea) 6. WAz

Transaction allocated to the remaining PTHREREFEANESRBAR
performance obligation for contracts BHXS

with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph AREEBEHEHEZHBEEBRESER
121 of HKFRS 15 to its services income from film related Bl 75 Y AR FE R B 8 B 78 s ZE B 2815
business and advertising business such that the Group RBIVIBFNERER L BRELXSE
does not disclose information about revenue that the EEREVERBARAE —FHIATHE
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining FHEBMNESHEANTHNEBBENE
performance obligations under the contract for film related B AEBETeREEHRASERE
and advertising that had an original expected duration of WE W = H B H o

one year or less.

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
Hz-2-%F BEZZ-—NE
ZSA=t-HLEE ZA=+—-ALFE
Film related Film related
business and Money  business and
advertising Lending advertising Money Lending
EYHBER EXHBES
RESE Bi& RES &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET TAT TAT
Revenue disclosed in RABER S
segment information BEEZBA
External customer and total IBEFR B 20,000 - 27,623 -

Revenue from contracts EFAHAKBA
with customers 20,000 - 27,623 -
Interest income FIEMRA - 534 = 438

20,000 534 27,623 438
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7. OTHER INCOME

Continuing operations
Bank interest income
Interest income from amount due from

7. HMlA

RITH B WA -
W —HEARRIEZ

2019
—E-NE

HK$'000
T T

a related company A EWA - 48
Sundry income HMEUIA 8 765
8 814
8. OTHER LOSS 8. HttE 8

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAE T

Ccontinuing operations BELSEXEL
Impairment loss on other receivables H {th & W 3RIE R B B 1B 28 2,599
Impairment loss on trade receivables BRI IBERESE 6,539 9,860
Impairment loss on loan receivables W EFREESE 4,950 2
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MFRAIEBE 1,979 -
13,496 12,461

9. FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations
Interest on borrowings wholly repayable

9. BMERAK

2020
—g-2f

— = —

HK$'000
FER

FEEER®
ARAFRNEHEEZ

2019
—E—NF
HK$'000
FBT

within five years f& KA B 3,600 4,925
Interest on bond BEHFE 238 -
Interest on convertible bonds A} ESZF A 10,492 24,778
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENR 36 -
Fair value change in extinguishment of BRABEKEESBEH S 2

liability portion of convertible bonds NAEEH - (1,709)

14,366 27,994
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10. BRETS B AT S 18
REFEBEEB 2B HRBHAERE
M A A TERE R

10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging (crediting):

2020 2019
—E-F%F —E—NE

HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET

(@) Employee benefit expense (@) EEEABXX(BEES

(including directors’ remuneration)

%)

Salaries, wages and other benefits Yo ITERHEMER 6,472 7,919
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKAE FI 5T 8] 3R 120 156
6,592 8,075
(b) Other items HftEH

Depreciation of items of property, plant mE - HREKEIEE

and equipment e 2,070 312
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRABEEETE 377 =
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEEHE 7 3
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEREE

plant and equipment FEER - 324
Write-off of items of property, plant and mE HRERKZBEEBEEZ

equipment 8 = 26
Minimum lease payments under WEHEE TR

operating leases in respect of land and BFEZHEBRENRK

buildings - 1,402
Auditors’ remuneration % & 60 Bl &
- Current year -REE 690 630
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE N EEMERTEESFHES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to RIBECGEM LR B REHEERAK O E
the GEM Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the HKCO and BIMNERAFRAUNE2DHLEEES
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about MBI EBE2FEEEMeOT:

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries, allowances  Retirement benefit
Fees and benefits in kind ~ scheme contributions Total
e ¥ EERENAE BABAGE )

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ZBC2E CT-NF CEIBE CET-NE CBIEE CF-NF ZBIBE -E-NE

Notes ~ HKS$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
first T BT T Tiar TEx BT TER TiEx

Executive Directors Y7z
Mr. Wang Dequn TEREE (a) 17 - - 150 - - 17 150
Ms. Wu Meirong RXBLT (b) - - - 210 - - - 210
Ms. Jingquan Yingzi FRERLL (0 - 1,140 - - - - - 1,140
Mr.Chin Wai Keung Richard %% %4 (d = - - 210 - - - 20
Mr. Hu Chao e - = 420 420 - = 420 420
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny WL e) - - 60 240 - 12 60 252
Mr. Mao Songtao ERELE (f) - - - 159 - - - 159
Mr. Wang Ronggian IRERE 4} - - 456 15 - 18 456 174
Mr.Chow ChiWah Vincent ~ BIZELE ) - - 920 - - - 920 =
Mr. Tsang King Sun HatE (i - - 731 - - - 731 -
Mr. GUo Gelin DRAAEE () - - 32 - - - 32 =
17 1,140 2,619 1,845 - 30 2,636 3,015
Non-executive Director ~ ¥ HTEE
Mr. Qian Gang BEEE (k) 229 - - - - - 229 =
Independent Non- BUEHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Hau Chi Kit FEERE () 44 14 - - - - 44 104
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua TRERE 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Mr. Wong Ching Keung TE#EE (m) - 63 - - - - - 63
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng BEIRE n) - 57 - - - - - 57
Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine REALL 0) 87 - - - - - 87 -
Dr. Santos Antonio Maria HERBL ) 87 = - = - = 87 =
338 3’4 - - - - 338 384
Total @zt 584 1,524 2,619 1,845 = 30 3,203 3,399
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

@)

Mr. Wang Dequn was appointed as an Executive Director
on 1 November 2018, re-designated to a Non-executive
Director on 17 April 2019 and resigned as an Non-executive
Director on 6 August 2020.

Ms. Wu Meirong was resigned as an Executive Director on 1
November 2018.

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi was resigned as an Executive Director
on 1 April 2019.

Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard was resigned as an Executive
Director on 23 October 2018.

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny was resigned as an Executive Director on
26 June 2019.

Mr. Mao Songtao was appointed as an Executive Director
on 23 October 2018 and resigned as an Executive Director
on 1 April 2019.

Mr. Wang Ronggian was resigned as an Executive Director
on 19 June 2020.

Mr. Chow Chi Wah Vincent was appointed as an Executive
Director on 25 June 2019.

Mr. Tsang King Sun was appointed as an Executive Director
on 2 July 2019 and resigned as an Executive Director on 10
February 2020.

Mr. Guo Gelin was appointed as an Executive Director on 27
February 2020.

Mr. Qian Gang was appointed as a Non-executive Director
on 22 May 2019 and resigned as a Non-executive Director
on 10 January 2020.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit was resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 18 July 2019.

Mr. Wong Ching Keung was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 21 September 2018.

N EEHMERIEEEFHMES
(#)
B3

(@) IEBEER-_Z-N\F+—HA—HH
EHOTES R_ZT-NAFHA+LH
BRERIVTES AR _ZT_ZF
NAREBEFRNTES -

b REFLXTRZZ-NF+-HF—H#
EHRITES -

€ HEBHRATR-ZE—-HLEWA—AHAH
THITES

d BEBRLER-Z-NF+A-+=H
BIERTES -

) MBEEIR-ZFB-AFRNA-+RBE
EHRITES -

f ERBEER-_Z-NF+A=Z+=H
HERTESF IR -_FT-AFWOA—
HBFERITES -

(8 IRBAENR-Z-_ZFXATLARH
EHRITES -

h BEEEXER-_Z-AFA-TEHH
HERTES -

() SWMBERER-_ZT-NAFLA-HHE
BITEST R _T_TF_A+HEMT
HITESE -

() BEMEER-_ZT-_TF_F_-++H
HEBITES -

ky BMETER—ZFE—HALFRA-+=-AH
FEBITEEY R _Z_ZF—A+H
BIIIERITES -

) EEHEREER-ZE-NFELATN\BE
EBILERTES -

m IEBEERZZE-NFAAZ-T+-—H
HEBIIFAITES -
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 11.

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(n)  Mr. Zhao Zhizheng was resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 21 September 2018.

(0) Ms. Ng Yin Ling Elaine was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 9 July 2019 and resigned as
independent Non-executive Director on 30 June 2020.

(p)  Dr. Santos Antonio Maria was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 9 July 2019.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2019:
Nil).

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three (2019: two) Directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining two (2019: three) highest paid employees,
which were individually within HK$1,000,000, are as
follows:

EEMERIERESFMES
()
GEINC)

n WELEELER-_ZE—NFAA-+—H
BIBUIERTES -

(0 REEZXTIR-Z-—AFLAABHE
BUFRTETIR B _ZTF KA
STHREBILFENTES -

P HEREBLIR-Z-AFLtAABHE
BYUFEATESE -

REE  BEFWELR B NE T
CXRB(ZE-NF &)

AEEREARSFHERRE=2(=%
—NE MRBEF BEZHMEHFBH
REX - AFEHTIMEB(ZE—NF:
—R)RRFHREREESZIED IR
1,000,000/ 7T) Z Hr B S B0 T

2019
—E—NF

HK$'000
T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %4 - 2R EWA R 1,507 3,277
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B k& ) 51 2 £t 3 33 69
1,540 3,346

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for l0ss
of office.
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

. FREBER

2020 2019
—g-BE _—T nF

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T T

Current tax B B B 18
Hong Kong Profit Tax BEERNGEH
Over-provision in respect of prior year

BEFEBEBRE

- (20)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated
at the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
income as determined in accordance with the relevant
income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. No PRC
Enterprise Income Tax has been provided for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profit tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

RZE—NE=A=+—H BT
ERBZFT—LFBBUERN(ETR)
BHER(MEAER] U3 AFEHE
MEH - FHERERA-_ZT—NF=ZA
—TN\BEERALE UYRBHEES
W) E - BEFMESHBRL  6EKZ
EEERE00EABTHAN ZHEERE A
8.25% * M #A B200& /& T i | 2 B X 1
B165% c AFEFNEHMEH 2 EE
HEEGEFBEENE —FHR16.5%RF -

%

B g 3 B 19 B 1 70 IR 1% o B4R
T 18 T4 3 81 B 90 B R 2 1 Bt
25% LA ERBRBAGE - HE=Z
P-PFR-F-AF=A=T AL
FE - HmIIETEOEAEHBE

EERAS BnMNGHM AR
THREGAMBHEEAMSEFTEKR - &F
78 T IR 1R P E 2 A fh 5B SR B N B Y

16.5% & o
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12.

168

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continuea)

Reconciliation between the income tax credit and the
Group's accounting loss from continuing operations at

applicable tax rates is as follows:

Loss before income tax from continuing

Pt 5 R R P R

12. FIBHE & (&)
RERHRHE Y EMEEAEE
S ECRERFELE Y HEBERIHE
Ful e

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$'000
THAT

HK$'000
FET

FBREEBZRAEHRA

operations &5 18 (48,671) (50,516)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong income tax &2 & & AT 15 B 1 £16.5%

rate of 16.5% FrE 2 RIE (8,030) (8,335)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBBRAZH G E = (466)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAIMBE R 2 & 2,611 2,385
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERANHERFERE 2

differences not recognised % & 175 =
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERKRBAMEBEZ

recognised MR 5,552 6,396
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRBTARRAHNEERE

recognised (308) -
Income tax credit S % = (20)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 13. R IEREEK
On 31 October 2018, the Group entered into a sales and RZE—N\F+A=+—8 AEEHEH—
purchase agreement with an independent third party for HEBLFE-FAREERNEER —RER
disposal of the Group's entire equity interests in Super Car BERARIz2MBREITZE R Hax (T H
Service Company Limited (“Disposal Subsidiary”), which EFRA ZEERBARSZTAESE
were engaged in car beauty and maintenance in Hong ARBEEZER ZRXHERZE—AN
Kong. The transaction was completed on 31 October 2018. FT+A=+—H=EK °
The loss for the period from the discontinued car beauty AHEREBERIEREERERELEZE
operation is set out below. The comparative figures in BEHEATX GLefEahEMm2E ks
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other RIZUEBEBFTEEN  UBTEERE
comprehensive income have been restated to re-present BEFNE2IABKRIEREER -

the car beauty operation as a discontinued operation.

Period
ended

31 October
2018

HZE

—E-N\F
+A=+—8H
1k 5
HK$'000
TR

Loss of car beauty operation for the period REBABEERER 2 EIE (203)
Loss on disposal of car beauty operation HEREXREB2ER (56)

(259)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)
(@) The results of the Disposal Subsidiary for the period

13. CRIEBEEK »)
(@) teEFArAR-_E-—NENE—H

from 1 April 2018 to 31 October 2018, which have
been included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, were as follows.

EZE-N\FT+A=+—HHBEZ
¥*BFEERGEEERR)2W
T

Period
ended
31 October
2018
BZE
—E-)N\F
+HA=+—Hi
HE
HK$°000
FET
Revenue A 1,324
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (1,062)
Gross profit EAM 262
Administrative expenses TR E A (479)
Loss before tax B 7% A& 18 (217)
Deferred tax IR E T IR 14
Loss for the period HAEE (203)
Loss for the period from discontinued ERIEREEB ZHRNER
operations including the following: BRENATIE:
Depreciation e 40
Amortisation B 53
Minimum lease payments under operating &M EE T RIEF 2
leases in respect of land and buildings HEBENK 332
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHEMEF 856
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR K48 | 5 2 4t 5% 27
Write-off of items of property, plant and Vs B RERBIER 2 M
equipment 35
Write-off of inventory T8z 2
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LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

14.

RARAFEBAREEBRER

BREABREZFARNRBEAARNL
EER AT BT E B R Z I8 8Et

At
B o
>t

2020 2019
—EB-FHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Loss =
Loss attributable to owners of the KRG B AENEBE
Company
— From continuing operations - REBBEEER (48,147) (50,363)
— From discontinued operation - REERIEEEERS - (259)
(48,147) (50,622)
Number of shares ®RHEA ‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of ordinary B 31T & AR N4 T B
shares in issue 3,987,964 2,322,731

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
nil).

15.

HREREETRRESAREETE
BT EREEHHRE_T_TER_-TF
—NE=ZRA=+-HLEFEMRRINZE
REAEESBRFLARE -

R E
EEeUVIMERmMEaEzE_E_2F= A
—t+t—BLtMBRFEISNEAKRE(ZE
—NFEE)o
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

172

16. W% - BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipmen vehicles
B
HENEEE HERBR ; RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 { HK$'000
TAET BT BT BT
Cost KA
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EEMA—A 1,347 24,330 5813 5,520 37,010
Additions B 33 6 2% = 368
Disposals HE = S - (3.982) (3,982)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—-F A (105) (75) (20) (50) (250)
Write-off fh ¢ (1,264) (7) (378) S (1,649)
Exchange differences ERzH - (1,424) 7) (88) (1,519)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-LF=A=+—-H 314 22,830 5,434 1,400 29,978
Additions B 189 - - - 189
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-HETF A - (21,325) (52) (1,308) (22,685)
Exchange differences ERES - (1,505) 2) (92) (1,599)
At31March2020  W=B-BFZA=+-FH 503 - 5.380 - 5,883
Accumulated ZIHMERAE
depreciation and
impairment
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EEA—A 1,278 22,246 5,699 3,128 32,351
Depreciation e 170 79 27 76 352
Disposals HE - - - (1,858) (1,858)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—RF A (30) (34) 9 (22) (95)
Write-off i 35 (1,264) 2 (338) - (1,604)
Exchange differences ERZES = (1,305) (5) (78) (1,388)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-n$=RA=1-H 154 20,984 5,374 1,246 27,758
Depreciation Vil 322 1,595 29 124 2,070
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE-HTF A = (21,196) (52) (1,288) (22,536)
Exchange differences ERES = (1,383) 2) (82) (1,467)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-BFZA=t-A 476 - 5,349 - 5,825
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-F£=R=1-H 27 - 31 - 58
At 31 March 2019 RZE-nE=RA=1-H 160 1,846 60 154 2,220
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EREEE

Office premises
/NS

HK$'000
T

At 1 April 2019 initially applied HKFRS 16 RZZE-—NFOA—HABXER

BB mEERFE165% 431
Depreciation charge during the year FRITERE (377)
At 31 March 2020 R-BE-_ZTF=HA=+-—H 54

As disclosed in note 2(b), the Group has initially applied
HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method and
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.

The Group leases office premises for its operations. The
contract is entered into for a fixed term of two years.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group has one lease agreement
with remaining lease term of more than one year and
therefore recognised right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$431,000 under HKFRS 16. The lease contains fixed
minimum annual lease payment term.

M FE20) T T ANEEFE B LIEE
ZEBWEEREREAVMBREENE
165 THEBER-_ZE-—NLFHNA—HZ
& UBRLABERT B SE
BIE17E s BACEREYHEERY
HfE AEEE o

AEBEERAEMENETLEE - A
EANTIMEREFHRIL -

R-ZE—-hAhEMNA—B AXEE—HHA
EREFSEREE—F YERES
B REERFIE R ERELE
#49431,0008 T - HEREEEREFE
BEMTBAR -
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. HMbELEE

Club Customer
membership Tradename relationship Total
EREE BE EFB% #ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TEL SR SR
At 1 April 2018 R-E-N\FHA—A 113 17 160 444
Amortisation 5 3 S (53) (56)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RF AT - a7 (107) (278)
Exchange differences X = () = = (6)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=R=+—H 104 - - 104
Amortisation e (7) - - (7)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BFAA (90) = = (90)
Exchange differences B EE (7) 5 5 )

At 31 March 2020

R-BE-EH=H=1+-H

19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

19 R—EBREQXTZRE

2020 2019

—E-ZHF —ET—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

Share of net assets DI FEE 1,022 1,094

Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (1,022) (1,094)
Amount due from an associate (note (a)) & UK — R B & N B 5k 8

(Bt 5E @) 4,457 4,457

Less: Accumulated impairment W RETRE (4,457) (4,457)
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. A —EBREQXTA2RE#R)

Particulars of the Group’s associate are as follows: AREBFZHLATSEBSOT:

Percentage of ownership

Place of registration Particulars of interest attributable Principal
Name of company and business registered capital to the Group activities
rEEELEERE
AR EB AR ERH Tt E A BEzADN TEXRK
2020 2019
—8-%8% —T-)NF
Jiangsu BCTV Fashion Media The PRC RMB10,000,000 39.20% 39.20%  Dormant
Company Limited (note (b)) A K #10,000,0007T %
IHRERRERERAA
(P (D)
Notes: B &%
(@  The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest (@ EUR—HBEATIRBALAEERF &
free and repayable on demand. BRIZEREE -
(b)  The company has been dormant since 2010. (b)) ZAFE-_S—SEHEDEE-
The summarised financial information of the Group's EEAEEBRL AT (AR M TBEKN)
associate that is not individually material is set out below: CHBERBESNMT

2020 2019
—E-8HF —EFE-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000
F BT THE T

Total assets BEE 7,469 7,997
Total liabilities waeE (4,862) (5,205)
Net assets FEE 2,607 2,792
Group’s share of net assets of an AEBDh—MBERARZ

associate FEE 1,022 1,094
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year FEBE = =

Group'’s share of results of an associate AEFESMH—RMEEE AR Z
for the year FEEE = S
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20 ARRE  RERHEMEWR
RECEIVABLES b |
2020
—E-BHF
HK$°000
FTER
Deposits and other receivables ek H A4 EWRFRIE 260 5,882
Prepayments AR 274 856
534 6,738
Analysed into: RIv=
Non-current portion JEMENEB - =
Current portion B & 534 6,738
534 6,738
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 4(a) RE Gl 2 5F 18 SR T sE4@)(v) ©
(iv).
Notes: B 2
(@)  As at 31 March 2020, other receivable of approximately (@ RZZEZZTF=-A=+—H XxFEH
HK$2,592,000 was fully impaired during the year (2019: ftb & UK X TH 492,592,000 T & B8R B
HK$2,599,000). (ZZ—h4 : 2,599,000 T) -
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21. LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. ERER

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
T

Gross carrying amount of fixed-rate loan ARz ERE R

receivable BEREE 4,967 4,433
Less: Accumulated allowance W BEHEE (4,967) (17)
Carrying amount FREE - 4,416

The movements in loss allowance for loan receivables FREWERSEREBEISHNOT

during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
At the beginning of reporting period ks SR 17 -
Increase in application of HKFRS 9 fERE BB WmE LR
B9 5% B 182 41 - 15
Increase in allowance BN 4,950 2
At the end of reporting period MR & IR 4,967 17
The Group's loans and interest receivables mainly arise AEBZRERKEREFNBEEZERBE B
from the money lending business in Hong Kong, which are WEER  ABTEHE-

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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21.

178

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Analysis of the gross carry amount of loans receivable is
as follows:

21. EWE R (&)

ERER Z@EREEITAOT

HK$'000
T

Gross carrying amount as at 1 April 2018 R=—ZZE—N\FNA—HZ#KEE 4,433
Impairment loss recognised R & R E B 1B (17)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 March RZEB-AFE=ZA=+—-HK

2019 and 1 April 2019 —E-NAFHUA-HZHAEREE 4,416
Interest income B g 25 534
Impairment loss recognised e 52 R (B S 18 (4,950)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 March
2020

R-ZZB-EF=ZAZ+-BHZAKREE

Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in
note 4()(iv).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 4(a)
(iv).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of the loans
receivable. The Group seeks to maintain tight control over
its loans receivable in order to minimize credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

At the end of the reporting period, loans receivable carried
fixed interest rates and had effective interest were 12%
per annum (2019: 12% per annum).

Interest income and allowance for loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$534,000 (2019:
HK$438,000) and HK$4,950,000 (2019: HK$17,000)
respectively have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables =) A&
B EEBERG

Less: Allowance for credit losses

B S BWRRE

2019
—NF

HK$ 000

TR

31,364 40,265
(21,364) (14,825)

10,000 25,440

Aging analysis

The Group’s credit terms with its customers generally
range from 30 days to 180 days (2019: 30 days to 180
days). The Group seeks to apply strict control over
its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. As at the
end of the reporting period, an aging analysis of the trade
receivables, net of provision presented based on the
respective dates on which revenue was recognised, are as
follows:

AR 2 A
AEBGTHEPZEEH KRN F30
KE1BOKR(ZE—NF: 30%?:180%) °
RER B = SRR 4% B B R (88 R W kIR

W R A5 BRI B (= B E R %E?ﬁ
BHESRBSREEEEHEN N2
BHKR - BEHEWKEZ R D0
BRIZW AR ZEBEEHME 2 B E)
wmr

2020

—EC°EF

HK$'000

FERT
Current B A - 1,234
Within 30 days 30K = S
31-90 days 31E90XK 5,000 4,986
91-180 days 91&2180K 5,000 1,425
Over 180 days 180K A £ = 17,795
10,000 25,440

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 4(a)
(iv).

A RE 2 5B R M @) (V) ©
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

B B|RME

2. RANETFABBEZEREE

2020
—¥-%F

HK$'000
TR

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

RER LT ZRAE %

202 3,160

The movements for the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss during the year are as follows:

FRARANEBEFAER
wmr

LT RMEER

2020
—R-%F

HK$'000
TR

Beginning of the year R F 1) 3,160 9,717
Additions b - 6,002
Loss recognised in profit or loss REZERZEIR (1,207) (1,282)
Disposals & (1,751) (11,277)
End of the year RFR 202 3,160

Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss recognised included:

Realised (loss)/gain

Unrealised loss REIEEE

B (EI8), i

BRARBEFABRZSRMEEZANE
mRWE S (EE)FEeE:

2019
—NF

HK$'000

FHE T

(149) 346
(1,058) (1,628)

(1,207) (1,282)

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their
current bid prices in an active market and the fair values
are within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (note 4).
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20, RERBEEEY
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FAE T
Cash and bank balances Re MRITER
Denominated in HKD LA TTEHE 149 2,194
Denominated in RMB AARBEE - 26
149 2,220
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on BITHRESBESEETHERMNEIRZH
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited FERBREFE - SRITERTIFERNEE
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. RirBm B M R0 8 2 #R 1T ©
25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EZEMFERR
Based on the invoice date, the aging analysis of the trade BEBRZHE EHERNERZERD
payables is as follows: T
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FAET
Within 30 days 30K A = 9,950
31-90 days 31290K = 4,800
91-180 days 912180k = 2,044
Over 180 days 180K A £ 7,677 2,096
7,677 18,890
The Group's credit terms generally range from 30 to 60 AEBEBEER REZEAHEFT  —K
days (2019: 30 to 60 days) from the invoice date. NFI0E60KR(ZZE—NF : 30860K) °
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 EttERREREGTEH
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FE T
Contract liabilities (note) aHBEEME) - 5,271
Other payables H Ath pE T 3R 1E 3,610 175
Accruals Est & A 19,484 10,717
23,094 16,163
Note: B 5% -
As at 1 April 2018, contract liabilities amounted to approximately R—ZZE—NFOA—B 608 EHA
HK$6,013,000. 6,013,0005% 7T ©
Contract liabilities represented advance payments EHNABEERNRENIZSEEEE PR
received from customer for digital television pursuant to BESHEESOMABETERRETLK
the respective sales contracts before the control of the A TR A -

services are rendered to the customer.

For the contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019, MR T NF=ZA=+T—H®HEHE
approximately HK$5,271,000 are refunded during the year BEME ' 45271,0008 TR EBE_Z =
ended 31 March 2020. EFEFZAZ+—HIEFEEEE-
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27. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING 27. BEHFRR—BFEERRRXK

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY b= |
The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on BRFBAEERR RERZRERKERE -
demand.
28. BORROWINGS 28. B &
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAET
Other loans, unsecured HER - EEA
Interest free B 1,369 9,595
Fixed interest rate at 6% TE =& B 6% 519 -
Fixed interest rate at 18% & & F & 518% - 139
Fixed interest rate at 24% TE F & &24% 14,478 11,084
16,366 20,818
Movement of borrowings BEZE
2020
—E-EF
HK$°000
THER
At 1 April KU A—H 20,818 40,797
Proceed from new borrowings BB MERIE 5,200 23,183
Repayment EE (13,207) (46,014)
Accrued interest FEEH B 3,600 4,925
Interest paid 2T & (45) (1,663)
Exchange difference ME W = 58 = (410)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 16,366 20,818
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HEEE
As at 1 April 2019, as disclosed in note 2(b), the Group has RZE—NFWEOA—H » Wk sE2b) AT
initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective BOASEEERKEITZEWEERE
method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 REBMBRESENEIGHR  LAER
to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were ZE-NFOA-RB YR DR
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. REMBEEESHEUNET7TRSER
The Group has one lease agreements for the use of office KEHECHEBRETHEAR KA&H
purpose with remaining lease term over one year and has —EERAEER2AEHEFNARA
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$467,000 HEs—F YERT—NLFHA—
under HKFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019. EREZFEVBRSERNE 165 BERE

& B & #467,0005 7T °

The Group's leases liabilities are as follows: AEEBZHAEBBEWL T :
2020
.

Present

value
of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
BREHAE BIEHAE
MERE RIEHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T & T
Wwithin 1 year —F A 25 26
25 26
Less: Total future interest expenses W ARRF EF S B (1)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEZRE 25
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30. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 0. EEMIEEE

The movements for the major deferred tax assets and
liabilities during the year are as follows:

Fair value
adjustments
on prepaid
land lease
payments
and other
intangible

assets
BENLHEE
NERHM
BVEEZ
ARERE
HK$'000
TAET
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NFMA—H (55)
Deferred tax charged to REZMERZEEHE
profit or 10ss 9
Reversal of tax loss due to B AR B&F R A AR 2
unpredictability of future WK EEEE
profit stream -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HFRAAF 46

RASE FEETCHBEERARZ
BEMT :

Accelerated
tax
depreciation Tax losses Net Amount

MBS E F 0
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT BT

(103) - (158)
5 18 32

- (18) (18)

98 - 144

At 31 March 2019, 1 April - RZZE—-AF=F=+—H"
2019 and 31 March 2020 —Z—AFWMA—BK
—Z-FE=fA=1-H -

At 31 March 2020, the Group has unrecognised tax
losses of the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong and in
the PRC of approximately HK$92,168,000 and nil (2019:
HK$66,330,000 and HK$6,694,000) respectively.

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against
which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the
subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward
for 5 years, while tax losses of the companies within the
Group operating in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax
losses indefinitely under the current tax legislation.

RZZE-_FEF=Z[=+—H AEER
EAERPELEZFRRIZ RERE B
&5 18 7 Rl 49 892,168,000 T M E (==&
— 71 % 166,330,000/ 7T }6,694,0007%
JL) °

R AR B R R S S 1R 2 R R R R
AR MABREEHBERRAER
ERADAVBERZEEHREE -
REBEREZTFRAZRBERENSEE
hF - MRERTHBEAN REBL
BZAEEBETRARZHEBEATER
HR4EeE -
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 3. T RES
Oon 5 November 2015, the Company issued the 6% RZE—RAF+—ARHB - AREELT
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of K & 4 %8130,000,0008 TR =T — N
HK$130,000,000 due on 5 November 2018 (the “CB 2018") i—f— ARBEH 6% RRES (=
with a conversion price of HK$0.05 per share, subject to T-NFaBRERERD) AREAFR
customary adjustment. On 28 June 2016, the Company 005/%75 CIRGE \E’Muﬂ%é RZZE—R
issued the 6% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal FRAZTNB AXRQRETASE
amount of HK$120,000,000 due on 28 June 2019 (the #120,000,0008 TR =T — L F XA
“CB 2019") with a conversion price of HK$0.05 per share, Z+ N\ B E H 26% ] #% HQ BAH(ZF
subject to customary adjustment. —NFABRRKRES]  LBREARER00
B AIEERRE -
The terms of CB 2018 and CB 2019 are satisfied the _T—)\iﬂiﬁ%%%&ig—hi
“fixed for fixed” rule in HKAS 32. The proceeds of the CB BREF2ERTEE A G EAEI2
2018 and CB 2019 were allocated into two components, % & # & iﬁﬁi o ZE—N\F A
debt and equity elements on initial recognition. The BREHFERZZE-NFAIBRKRESFZHAE
equity elements are presented in equity component of RIB R ZFEEE%E%%EEEFWI*B =l
convertible bonds. The CB 2018 and CB 2019 have been B RERED - EEE%B;}EATW’HM
valued as at the date of issue on the basis carried out at S BOEY T -NFABRRK
that date by independent qualified professional valuers not BHERZT-—NFAIRBREFNETE
connected with the Group. RETEE  EREREANEE T & E
ZEBUEEREEMBEMRZARETT
=
The movements of the liability component of the CB 2018 ZE-NFBREREFR T —NLFA]
and CB 2019 during the year were as follows: BREFCEBELORAEFE 2EH T
T

R E %
HK$°000
THET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FHA—H 76,626 89,336 165,962
Effective interest expense for the  FREBEERF S5 X
year 11,312 13,466 24,778
Fair value change of liabilities HRABEZANEES
extinguishment (3,300) 1,591 (1,709)
Conversion during the year FARE - (15,440) (15,440)
Shares issued in respect of bond RENESHNSMmET
interest payments Z B (4,800) (6,000) (10,800)
Direct cost ER:EN (80) (81) (161)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=ZT—hF
ZA=+—HE
—E-NFHEA—H 79,758 82,872 162,630
Effective interest expense for the  FRE K| 85 X
year 5,591 4,901 10,492
Conversion during the year FARH (50,464) (33,420) (83,884)
Share issued in respect of bond RENESHNSMmET
interest payments Z B (4,770) (3,715) (8,485)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE_ZF
=A=+—8 30,115 50,638 80,753
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continuea)

The carrying amounts of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position as follows:

3. AIRRES &)

—E-N\FABRRESFR-ZE-AFA

BREBESFZEAMERGAEMBMRARAKRE

T

2020 2019
—g-%8% -—T A%

HK$°000 HK$'000
38 7T T

Current portion it B EB 80,753 -~
Non-current portion Ems o - 162,630
80,753 162,630

The principal terms of the CB 2018 and CB 2019 are as
follows:

(i) Period
The convertible bonds are due and will mature on
the third (3rd) anniversary of the date of issuance
of the convertible bonds (the “"Maturity Date”).
Any unredeemed and unconverted bond shall be
redeemed at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount in cash.

(ii) Conversion

The bondholder of the convertible bonds (the
“Bondholder(s)”) has the right (the “Conversion
Right”) to convert the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds in whole or in part into
Shares (the “Conversion Shares”) at any time
following the date of issue until the Maturity Date.

The number of Conversion Shares to be issued on
exercise of a Conversion Right shall be determined
by dividing the principal amount of the convertible
bonds being converted by HK$0.05 (the “Conversion
Price”), subject to customary adjustments in the
events of share consolidation, share subdivision,
capitalisation issues, capital distribution, rights
issue and issues of other securities below 80 per
cent of market price. In the opinion of the Directors,
the adjustments to Conversion Price in those
circumstances are all for anti-dilutive purpose to
protect the right of the Bondholder.

(ifi) Early redemption
The Company is entitled to redeem the convertible
bonds at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds (in whole or in part) at
any time and from time to time at the option of the
Company prior to the Maturity Date.

—E-N\FABRRESFR T -NFA
BREFZTEZHEROT

(i) MR
AR ESHRETAREESRA
HE=@BFATHHA]EBH R
BHR o EAIARERRKREBESE
BAREEAEEZ100% AR ¢ &
@ o

(i) X #&
AREESCEFFHEANESRF
BADBRE(H#EE]D R TS

HEAtEE JBPQEIM:HHFW%HM%EH@;
BREHFZREEASBEHRETD
Rﬁﬁﬂxfﬁ(ﬁﬁlﬂxﬂﬂﬁj)

RiTEBRAEmA ¥ &7
B BB BRETHIE 2] E
%%Z!S # FR LA0.0578 T ([#2 Iz (B

WL RDE O K
ZE §${t§*17~§7ﬁ M~ B
NEEITERER T ES0% 2 i &
SHAEEEFAE EFRS R
ZEBEAT 2R EABRY SR
BMEL  UREESFHBAME
EF -

N /UHH X2

7 ‘Ad—\_—\:l
A\

(ii) REHEE
ARAEEREIHBEREZER R
TRRABBESREELASEZ
100% & @ 2 AP D AR AR B 55 o
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31.

188

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(iv) Interest

The convertible bonds bears interest from and
including the date of its issue at the rate of 6% per
annum on the outstanding principal amount thereof.
The Bondholders have the option to request the
Company to pay the interest by the additional shares
of the Company instead of cash. The Bondholders
have, by notice in writing served on the Company,
required the Company to pay any interest payable
hereunder by way of Shares.

On 25 October 2018, the Company and the bondholders
entered into the Supplemental Agreements (the
“Supplemental Agreements”) to extend the maturity date
of the CB 2018 and the CB 2019 from the maturity date
of 5 November 2018 and 28 June 2019 respectively to
the extended maturity date of 31 December 2020; and to
change the interest payment terms of the CB 2018 and CB
2019.

For the interest of CB 2018, the interest is calculated as
the outstanding principal amount of the CB2018 held by
the Bondholders multiplied by 8% per annum, instead of
6% per annum, simple interest payable semi-annually,
instead of per annum.

For the interest of CB 2019, the interest is calculated as
the outstanding principal amount of the CB 2019 held by
the Bondholder multiplied by 8% per annum, instead of 6%
per annum, simple interest payable semi-annually, instead
of per annum.

The supplemental agreement was subsequently approved
by shareholder of the Company on 5 December 2018,
the amendments resulted in substantial modification of
the terms of the convertible notes. On 3 December 2018,
the liability component of the convertible notes before
extension was extinguished with the corresponding
original convertible notes reserve while the liability
component of the convertible notes after extension was
newly recognised with the fair value which has been
ascertained by an independent professional valuation
firm. Interest expenses on the convertible notes before
and after extension was calculated using the effective
interest method by applying the effective interest rate of
approximately 10.48% and 9.18% to the respective liability
component.
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3. TR RESF #)

(iv) ® &

AMRERESERETAN(REEA)
2 AR 1 L R 8 1B AN B IR 4E R R 6%
HE o  EEBEAEABEELAAT
AR BB SNR D T 3E IR & 4 7
B EERBAEADAAATRLE
ERA BRAATUBOHFTRY
HE fa] A & o

R-E-NE+A-+EHB AAFHRE
FRHAAT U amE(BmEBE]D
NEERZZE—NFABRRKREFR=-F
—NWEFAUBRRESFZHHE - B
AoRla-_E—N\F+—AEBE=-F
—NERNAZTFNHEREZ &KL R EH
A -_TF+-_A=+—H : k&gF—
- N\FABRREFR-_ZT—NFAR
BEHFZHBIER -

—E-N\ETEREFZAEMS it
HHEREEREAREZ 2 —N\F
A AR A8 % 2 o 1B A 2 % T UA8% (5
S 2F ) T 3E6% (8 4 X AF) 2 B 4
£ Fi o

—E-NFUBBRESIANEMS it
HF A REEREAREL 2 —NF
A4 R A8 % 2 1B A 2 % R UA8% (5
S 2F ) T 6% (8 & X AF) 2 B 4
£ Fi o

HWaAWEERER-_ZE—N\F+=-ARA
EARBIBREME ZEBETERTY
BREEGERREBESR - RZE—\F
+TZAZH EHRIZARKREREZE
EHOEBREZ RAUBRREEGEERE— O
HE - MEHBZAIRBREEREZEES
DARKEBLIEEGHERTNERZIARN
BEEFER - TR REHE 2R
ZERHNEAXTIRABERFERETE -
BN & E 3D o Bl 1% £910.48% K9.18%
ZEBRMEGTE o
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32. BOND AND INTEREST PAYABLE N.ENEZRAE

Between 2 to 5 years (Note (@) = A F (M FE@) 3,938

@ RZZE—NAF+AZ+=H ARAMH
— R\ E = EITA S A5000,000
BTHES BEENEREFH B
BITAHENEFAER LERAEER
SGERA ZEHFBRINEEBTF15% °

(@  On 22 October 2019, the Company issued a bond with
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 to an independent third
party with coupon interest of 6% per annum and a maturity
of 4 years from the date of issue. The effective interest rate
for the bond is 15% per annum after considering the direct
transaction costs.

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. BA&
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.0004 Nominal
each value
BREME
0.0004% Tt 2
TEREA HE
HK$'000
FTAT
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and RN_E—-N\FMA—B =
31 March 2020 E-hF=ZA=+—-HBK
—E-EF=ZA=+—H 250,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-NFEOA—H 1,900,674,675 760
Conversion of convertible bonds RBABRES @ 340,000,000 136
Shares issued in respect of bond RENESHFNEMETZ
interest payments 1% 15 (b) 219,800,547 88
Shares issued in respect of REEERMBET RN
settlement of loan () 150,000,000 60
Shares issued under general mandate B — BB E1T 2 KD (d 70,000,000 28
At 31 March 2019 R-B-hE=ZB=+-H 2,680,475,222 1,072
Conversion of convertible bonds R|ABmRES (@) 1,660,000,000 664
Shares issued in respect of RENEHEMEMETZ
bond interest payments % 7 (b) 109,916,707 44
Shares issued under general mandate B — R EE T2 KD (d 452,000,000 181
At 31 March 2020 R-B-2F=A=+-H 4,902,391,929 1,961
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33. SHARE CAPITAL continuea)

Notes:

190

@)

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have
converted the CB 2018 with the aggregate principal amount
of HK$50.0 million at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 1,000,000,000 shares. (2019: no share were converted)

During the year, the bondholder of CB 2019 has converted
the CB 2019 with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$33.0 milion at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 660,000,000 shares. (2019: aggregate principal amount
of HK$17,000,000 converted into 340,000,000 shares).

During the year, the bondholders of the CB 2018 and CB
2019 have requested to pay any interest payable by way of
the Shares. The interests of approximately HK$8,485,000
have been paid by way of Shares and 109,916,707 Shares
were issued at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
(2019: interests amount of approximately HK$10,800,000
converted into 219,800,547 Shares).

Oon 29 August 2018, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement with Artic Blue Corporation (“Artic
Blue”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
allot and issue and Artic Blue has agreed to subscribe for
150,000,000 subscription shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.10 per subscription shares for settlement of the
outstanding loan of approximately HK$15.0 million due to
Artic Blue. On 10 September 2018, 150,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were issued
accordingly.

On 19 September 2018, the Company entered into another
subscription agreement with Mr. Wang Dequn (“Mr. Wang"),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue
and Mr. Wang has agreed to subscribe for 70,000,000
subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per
subscription shares for additional financial resources for
the overall development of the Group. On 26 October 2018,
70,000,000 Shares were issued accordingly. Mr. Wang has
been appointed as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board with effect from 1 November 2018.

On 29 August 2019, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has agreed to place, for up to 500,000,000
new Shares to any number of Placee at a price of HK$0.019
per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company. On 11
October 2019, 452,000,000 Shares were issued.
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33. BA&(4)

B 5

@)

RAFE —Z-N\FAaRESFZ
BEHEFBEAEBEAE R00BEE T
WM-T-N\FUREEFLBRAK
- HMERODBETER  HHAR
1,000,000,000 (=T — L F: B & X
BERMR) -

RARFEE —ZE-NFraakEsrzE
FRBEARALBESROGETHEAS
BEBOBEELZ_T-—NEFABRK
& % 5 18 /3 660,000,000 R 5 < (=ZF
— N F: 25 A& £17,000,0007% T K #
#3340,000,000 f& % 17) °

RAFE —TE—N\FaAaREALENM
—E-hhFAUBRREFZELFFTEA
DRABR D ZAFITMESFE - F
B #98,4850008 T E AR M - m
109916707k B B L B EST R
0058 T T(ZE—NE:-FAEY
10,800,000 JT & ¥ 32 /219,800,547 %
B 5) o

RZE—NENA=-+HhHB KAA
EA Artic Blue Corporation ([Artic Bluel)
AVRERZE B ARAREBRE
fic 2 X %% 77 » M Artic Blue B [ & 1%
ERRERMOIOBETZREERE
150,000,000/% R #& B 5 - LB B & K
Artic Blue M) R B & BE X £915.08 &5
TLeR=ZFE—NFNLA+HE KXQAG
1 2% 77150,000,000 % & 38 A% ([BL D 1) »

RZB-NFNA+NAB ARFHEZE
REELE(IEREDITLE—HRERB
@Bl ARFRBRERET M
ITRECRERSRABRMIOET
2 3 B (B 2 870,000,000 B B B 1n
RAEBREHRIZHBIVRER
RZZE-—NFE+AZ+-H A275
Il % 1770,000,000/ {3 - ER LB
ERATESEREFTEEIE B _F
—NF+—HA—H&ERK-

RZZ-AFNAZ+NAB " KAAHA
HEREEREBITLEEHZE REES
BE EEREBERERRRRALQF
RS REERNMNIIET ZERE
NEEEHENBLARALERS
500,000,000/ ¥ i 19 - RZZF — I 5
+A+—H - 2% 77452,000,000 A% A%
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 March 2020 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options
to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares and will
expire on 27 March 2030. Under the Scheme, the Board
may grant options to the eligible participants, including
an employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services,
a customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
an agent, adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor,
sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any
valuable services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any securities issued by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
of time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point of time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
associates shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors and in any event that the proposed
participant is an independent non-executive director
of the Company, the vote of such independent non-
executive director shall not be counted for the purpose of
approving such grant. Options granted to independent non
—executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved
in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option
granted by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum
of HK$1. Options may be exercised at any time specified
on the Option certificate sealed by the Company. The
exercise price of an option is determined by the Board,
and will not be less than the greater of (i) the closing price
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

No share option of the Company has been granted under
the Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

4. UROBAERZARRKS

BER-_ZE_ZEF=A_F++HEB

RBE AQRACSEMN —HERES
([6t8) X2 EFEARBATAEGE
B2HEERLBREARERD - 578
BR-_E=FEFE=A=-+t+EBEm- - B
Bitdl EEgnmAERL2HEE(H
EARBSHEERTFRABZIER « &5
EmSREEER B AIARAH
EE@FRAasmtAQNa S ETATFA
A) BT 2 AT {A] 55 55 1 4 AT B sk E At A
TERSATMEEERE2RE - BRH -
HMAERE AR HBEH
Rk ERE) R LB -

AEARBRRELE - REFET
RO ZBREMRS R Z RN EET
BEEARANETARERSETROZ
10% ° REARB R E LA A - RME
MERERTRAEETEMALZBER
BATP R 2B BITRETEITRMDEE
TG B AR Q RE Al B R B B AT RR 17
1% - HTARBES TETHAER
ITERRAWSEMBE AL 2 BRE
ARBIFATEEHRE  HEHSH
ERARPBIUFNITES  AZEH
VHRTEEZRETBIFARMER
HEOBREMETZRR - MK TH
VHERTEFTCBREBEBRANZ201%
REEBBAE BT WEALART
BRERERAE -

BEMARRREFE RO 280 ERE
BNZRBEBB/IVET - BREAIRE
ARREEZBRERE ST 2T
BETE BERELOTEEHEFTSE
UK AERTINTEZEZSE )
BRORBELEAREBIASERERR
Sl 2 W (B (B R B R A B Al
hEAZXAGEBIMEBRABRERMIZ
FHWHE R p 2 m@E -

BHE_Z2_ZFKR_ZT—-—NLF=ZAH
=t+t—HLEFE BEREBEFEKDAR
DA ERRRE -
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39:

192

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 35. HE—RBFATE

On 8 December 2019, the Group disposed of its 55.7% and RZE—NhLF+_ANB " XEEH 5
14.3% equity interest of the subsidiary, Hunan Xiaoxiang MARBITEARBITZRELEHR
Digital Television Broadcast Company Limited which owned REXEEHZRBERAREREN T A
by Sky Dragon Digital Television and Movies Limited to the AIME BB TERBRAAS7% K
minority shareholder (B EEREREALBEREMTA UW3% s BETLPHRBRRNEEERS
A]1) and independent third party at cash consideration of RREBERETRARRBYE=F -
RMB1 and RMB1 respectively.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the MEERSETERBRAANLERH

Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital Television Broadcast Company ZEEREBENEERENT
Limited at the date of disposal were as follows:

Net assets disposed of: BEHEFEE:

Property, plant and equipment Y HRNEE 149
Other intangible assets EmEREE 90

Prepayments, deposits and other FERFRIE - Ze REMERKIE
receivables 36
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEFEEY 19
Trade payables Z 5 e BRI (530)
Other payables and accruals EMENREBEREGER (1,762)
Non-controlling interests derecognised BWIE R IEIERER 3,977
1,979
Loss on disposal LEEE (1,979)
Consideration RAE =
An analysis of the net cash flows in respect of the disposal HEFRAAZAESREFEINET:

of subsidiary was as follows:

Cash consideration ReEKRE =
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B BHERLSRBELZEY (19)
Net cash outflow arising from the disposal HEMELE RS ML FEE (19)
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35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continuea) 35. HE—RBF 27 #)
As referred to in note 13, on 31 October 2018, the Group WM T RZFE - NFE+ A
disposed of its 100% equity interest in Super Car Service =+ —H AEBEH—SRERBAR
Company Limited to an independent third party for a cash ANAZHBRET —RBILIE=FH B
consideration of HK$300,000. A 1B &300,0007% 7T °
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the REERH —RERBERATZE
Super Car Service Company Limited at the date of disposal ERBECERENAT:

were as follows:

2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FE T

Net assets disposed of: BHEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment M - IR REE 155
Intangible assets mEEE 278
Inventories FE 110
Trade receivables 25 EWERER 5
Other receivables H g W 3RE 174
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 172
Other payables and accruals HtwENRBREFER (394)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE (144)
356
Loss on disposal LEEBE (56)
Consideration KB 300
An analysis of the net cash flows in respect of the disposal HETRARZAESREFEINUOT:

of subsidiaries was as follows:

2019
—E—NF

HK$'000

FE T

Cash consideration RERE 300
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of i : D HER S MNBLEEY (172)

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal HEMEELEZRESRANFE 128
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 6. EBERERMFE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions (@ EXFRERS
During the year, the Company has issued Shares for RAFE - PR G B 15 & i 5
the settlement of outstanding interests arising from JNFAEE - AAR B BERTIRR
convertible bonds as disclosed in note 31 to the BEMEEZRNANEEITRG -

consolidated financial statements.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEETBREEZ2AEEE
financing activities

Bond and
Convertible interest
Borrowings bonds payable
FE 1318 %
BHE ARKRES BRRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR FET
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FWA—A 40,797 165,962 -
Changes from financing cash flows REHRERECE (9,494) (161) =
Interest expenses FERE 4,925 24,778 =
Conversion into ordinary shares RBEEK - (15,440) -
Share issued in respect of settlement of HEEEEmMRITIRN
borrowings (15,000) - =
Shares issued in respect of bond interest RENEHRFEMBETL
payments & n = (10,800) S
Fair value change of liabilities BRBECZALEED
extinguishment = (1,709) =
Exchange differences BRESE (410) - -
At 31 March 2019 and R-ZB-n§=A=+-H
1 April 2019 R-ZE-hEWNA—H 20,818 162,630 -
Change from financing cash flow REREREZEY (8,007) - 3,700
Interest expenses FEF X 3,555 10,492 238
Conversion into ordinary shares RBLEBR = (83,884) =
Share issued in respect of convertible bonds BRI KR EHF &
interest payment EErd 3 = (8,485) -
At 31 March 2020 R-ZEB-ZF=8=+-H 16,366 80,753 3,938
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 37. EREFGE

Defined contribution retirement plan EBEHRENKE

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying AEBAFBAERBBREERILBEE
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are held 8 cFEICEERGERAZEHNZE
separately from those of the Group in funds under the B BAKEZEENIHERE -

control of trustees.

The Group recognised retirement benefit contributions of AEBRBE_TE_TEF=ZA=1+—
HK$120,000 (2019: HK$156,000) from continuing operations HEFEBRREFALEEB 2R
for the year ended 31 March 2020. K 18 F) 4 120,000 T (=T — AL F:

156,000 7T) °

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 38. KeEHEAE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RERBAR AEERBEIITHELSE
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable HMERUTHEIBA R REEBEERN
operating leases falling due as follows: RBER -
2019
HK$'000
FA T
Within one year —F K 965
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_EERF
(BEEREME) 41
1,006
The Group leases a number of properties under operating AEEREBESEHELHERE TYWE -
lease arrangements. The leases for properties run for an MEGFABEN 1220 - ZSHED
initial period of 1 to 2 years. None of the leases includes TEEXAEE -

contingent rentals.
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No contingent liabilities of the Group were noted at 31
March 2020 and 2019.

40. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

196

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transaction with a related party:

Pt 5 R R P R

39. AREE
R-Z-ZTER-F-AF=A=+—8

AREBELETARXARE -

10. BEAT RS

(a)

BHBEELTZRS
RAREER - AEEH-ZHEESF
VIATRS:

2020
—R-%F

HK$'000
TER

Interest income from a related

company (note) (Bt 3E)

—HBERRZHEWA

= 965

Note:

The ex-Director, Ms. Jingguan Yingzi, has beneficial interest
in this related company.

Remuneration for key management personnel represents
amount paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, there was no other material related party
transaction during the year.

Balance with related parties

Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed above did
not fall under the definition of connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, with which the Company
has complied throughout the year unless otherwise
disclosed.
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF M. AT BB MR R R
THE COMPANY

As at 31 March R=8=4+—H

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FEL

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

Non-current assets (RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BRI RRZIRE - =
Property, plant and equipment ME - MERERE 14 =
Right-of-use asset FREEE 54 =
68 -

Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a)) JE W F X B FRIE (MY 5% () - -
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FERMFIE K& K E b fE U 7B 389 5,216
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEED 12 1,278
401 6,494
current liabilities REBAEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries (note (a)) J& - F 2 8 ZUE (i 7E () 1,108 54
Other payables and accruals HibEN R BERENER 19,786 7,993
Amount due to a director i —REEHE 820 1,120
Borrowings BE 14,997 11,083
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 =
Convertible bonds AR RkES 80,753 =
117,489 20,250
Net current liabilities RBEETE (117,088) (13,756)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBERADAE (117,020) (13,756)

Non-current liabilities (RBEE
Bond and interest payable REHFEFE 3,938 =
Convertible bonds AR kES - 162,630
3,938 162,630
Net liabilities BEFE (120,958) (176,386)
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF A, AT MBERRKE)
THE COMPANY (continuea)

As at 31 March (continued) R=ZA=+—H#®)
2020
—E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FHET
EQUITY ¥ =
Capital and reserves IR K 5B
Share capital P 7 1,961 1,072
Reserves (note (b)) {5 1% (P £ (b)) (122,919) (177,458)
Capital deficiency B 2 5 A (120,958) (176,386)
The statement of financial position of the Company ARAMHRARER-F_FFAA
was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of i Ei?%ﬁj%f%ﬁt/ﬁﬁi‘%% FlzE - A
Directors on 4 September 2020 and were signed on its TATRAEE -
behalf.
Guo Gelin Mou Zhongwei
B0 4% MK -5
Director Director
EF 4
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF M. ARAE BRI T E

THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 March (continued)
Notes:

R=A=+—H@@#®
Fi 5

(@  Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest (a)

WM FRBIRIB R EER - TE
free and repayable on demand. iR o

SHERERER

Al

(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: by ARFFEHEHREWLOT:

Share
premium

B EE
HK$'000

AT

Equity

component of

Accumulated
losses

Merger
reserve

convertible

bonds

TRE&ES

Rt AORE
HK$'000 HK§'000

BT

BEHA
HK$'000

At 1 April 2018 R-Z-\FWA—-H 124,012 (378,266) 42,505 (198,642)
Loss for the year FEER - (26,664) = - (26,664)
Share issued in respect of equity  ARHEBERMETZ

settlement of a loan B in 14,940 - - - 14,940
Share issued under general RE-REEZTZRA

mandate 6,972 - - - 6,972
Conversion of convertible bonds %I # k& % 19,585 - - (4,281) 15,304
Shares issued inrespect of bond ~ HEXHEFFEMETZ

interest payments 80 10,712 - - = 10,712
Loss on amendments of the terms BT/ AREH 2 ER 2

of the convertible bonds 8 - (39,494) - 39,494 -
Direct cost regarding to the BBETIAREFGERZ

amendments of the terms of BERKA

the convertible bonds - - - (80) (80)
At 31 March 2019 R-2-hF=A=t-A 176,221 (444,424) 13,107 77,638 (177,458)
Loss for the year FEER S (38,566) - - (38,566)
Shares issued under general RE-REERTZRA

mandate 8,407 - - - 8,407
conversion of convertible bonds ~ H IR A& R (& & 115,781 - - (39,524) 76,257
Shares issued in respect of bond X EFFIEMETZ

interest payments 13 8,441 - - - 8,441
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-EE=A=+-8 308,850 (482,990) 13,107 38,114 (122,919)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

iR/

By Ed- 3]

Name of subsidiaries

SRR

M21 Investment Limited BvI

ZBRABE

Sky Dragon Digital Television and  Hong Kong
Movies Limited

AEREY BERAA )

Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital Television ~ The PRC

Broadcast Company Limited
BEREETERERLA mE

Sparkle View Enterprises Limited BV

SELEERAN ABRUES

Goodside International Limited Hong Kong

HEERERRA Bk

Indorus Investment Limited BVI
ABRUES

BERBERG(RI)ERRA  ThePRC
HE

Nanjing Everyday Bay Trading The PRC

Company Limited

BRAREESERAA nE

Success Start Limited Hong Kong

AERRAT Bk

Riseful Investment Limited Hong Kong

AERABRAT Bk

200

Particulars of issued
and paid up share
capital/ registered
capital

BRTRARKRAE/

ERMEAREE

400 ordinary shares of
USD1 each
NORERAEIZTLLZ

21,000,000 shares of
HK$21,000,000

{E{E21,000000% 72
21,000,000 & 3

RMB61,965,219
AR 619652197

1 ordinary share of USD1
EEZETRERR

1 share of HKS1
EEETRER
100 ordinary shares of
USD1 each
00REREEBZTZ

RMB993,947
ARHB939UTT

RMB22,221,951
AEH2,215517

1 share of HK$1
BEIELRRR

1 share of HK$1
BEIELRRR
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42.

Group's

2020

i

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

effective interest

AEERBER

FEFRAIHAHR
R-F_TFR_F-NF=A=1+—0H"
ARBERBTRARFBEOAT:

Percentage held

by the Company Principal activities
AARBEZAS TEER
2020
nt Juf 3

100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
RERR

100% 100% 100%  Provision of advertising and
movie production and
distribution services
REREHUREREER
RIR%

70% - 70%  Dormant
4

100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERR

100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERR

100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERR

100% 100% 100%  Dormant
4

80% 80% 80%  Investment holding
BERR

100% 100% 100%  Provision of money lending
&

100% 100% 100%  Securities investments

EARE
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 2. T EF REHFBE @)

Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid up share
registration and capital/ registered Group's Percentage held

Name of subsidiaries operation capital effective interest by the Company Principal activities

ERE L/ BRTRMERE/
TREER ARREEHE AMERF RSB ERER ARNARE A IEER

2020 2019 2020 2019
b 32 “E-0E ZBIRE

Mighty Big Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
EEERRA £ ER1ET IRRR Bx
Glory Ray Global Limited BYI T ordinary share of USD1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
RABRERAD ABRRES BRIET RERR REBR
Azure Future Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERAERAA £ ERIET IRRR REBR
AITEEERRHHZERAT  The PRC RMBS00,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant

G AR 800,000 Bz
Wealth Crest Investment Limited BV T ordinary share of USD1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
REREFRLA ABRRES BRIET RERR REBR
Virtue State Developments Limited  BVI 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding

USD1 each
BRRERLA AERAHE 00RERABIZTL REZR
tRk
Goldtop Success Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
FEERLA £ ERIET IRRR Bx
Wealth Up International BYI T ordinary share of USD1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited
BREGRAFRAA ABRRES BRIET RERR REBR
Joint Spread Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
BBERAA £ ERIET IRRR Bx
Hong Kong Changda Advertising ~ Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
Media Limited
BAGERSERARAT £ ERIET IRRR Bx
The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company ERIWARARBARZZE_ZF = A
at 31 March 2020. =+ —BZFRAF -
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43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Pt 5 R R P R

43. EHBMEEE

(@ On 5 December 2019, the Company and Shenzhen (@)
Haidemu Green Technology Company Limited* (0%

NHBEBRAMKRBERA

), an indirect wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company entered into
the agreement to acquire 55% equity interest of
Shenzhen Fa Nuo Xin Neng Yuan Qi Che Holdings

Company Limited* (& Il % &

SRR R T EEREA

R A A]) (the ”Target Company”), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC
at a total consideration of HK$41,000,000, the
consideration will be satisfied by issuance of
convertible bond. On 29 May 2020, the Company
entered into a supplemental agreement to amend
certain terms of the agreement dated 5 December

2019.

Pursuant to the agreement, If the aggregate
audited consolidated net profit after tax (excluding
extraordinary or exceptional items of the Target
Company) for the year ending 31 December 2020 (i.e.
Actual Profit) shall be less than the guaranteed profit,
the principal amount of the convertible bonds shall
be reduced in accordance to the formula designated

in the agreement accordingly.

Up to the date of this announcement, this proposed
acquisition is still under the progress. Further details
of the above possible acquisition were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 5 December

2019 and 29 May 2020.

(b)  With effective on 1 June 2020, the English name of (b)
the Company has been changed and registered from
“Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited” to "Farnova
Group Holdings Limited” and the secondary name
of the Company in Chinese has been changed and
registered from “ﬂﬁ;—%% BMAEMBRAT"to "EHEE

BiERAERA
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43. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name
of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company was issued
by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on
18 May 2020, certifying that the new English and
Chinese names of the Company has been registered
in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The English stock short name of the Company will
be changed from “CODE AGRI” to “FARNOVA GROUP”
and the Chinese stock short name of the Company
will be changed from “Hih 2 2" to "JA#H &L E" for
trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 1 June 2020. The stock
code of the Company on the Stock Exchange “8153"
remains unchanged.

Details of the change of Company name are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 5
February 2020, 27 March 2020 and 29 April 2020 and
25 May 2020 and the circular of the Company dated
6 March 2020.

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus (“COVID-19") has impact on the global
business environment. Pending the development
and spread of COVID-19 subsequent to the date of
this announcement, further changes in economic
conditions for the Group arising thereof may have
impact on the financial results of the Group, the
extent of which could not be estimated as at the
date of this report. The Group will keep continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and react
actively to its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

Pt s R R M RE

A3. ERHEREE &)

(b)

(&)

EXERAEAMEERERZ=ZZE=F
Eﬁﬂﬂ\ﬁﬁﬂ%?ﬂﬁ#%%“

BEXBIMEBERET) FEL
T%ﬁﬂﬁéi‘x&qﬂx%ma@ﬁ
BB XD F622F R B 1§ B) 16
HREEEM AT F A
—BEFARER  ARRARZHX
fi% 19 f5 78 % B [CODE AGRIIE i A&
[FARNOVA GROUP]: mA Q"] 2
XD EEGHE B EEIFTNR
DEFEE] HEORBIMESE -
m ARz BRMEFHEFT
""""" % 508153 °

NE BB ERFBEHIRADT
AfA-_T_ZTF_ARAH - =%
_“E*H_—H:EI —ZE-EF
MAZ+NAhHEHEZZE-_ZFHA
_‘?‘ﬂEIE’J”i&Elﬁﬂﬁfgfg
F=ZH/HHN@

BT _ZTF A% FHEML
(f[COVID-19) My 1R B B 4 2 Bk %
BREEAYE RNAQXNEBHBHE
COVID-19H) 3 & &%ﬂ%ﬁ #
BAREBAOSEMR  HEAE
mw&%ﬁﬁi%; me 22
EHEAREBHEEX G - &
& B 15 4 48 Y COVID-19Z 15 1R 15
o WREBRREE RO EYARE
B BRI REEEE

E/E
=7 o
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Five-Year Financial Summary
AEMBHME

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement T3 AKREBMRBERENN R 2 GAEE R
of assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, isset EBEBEBERIEE:
out below:

RESULTS E 3

Continuing and discontinued operations
BEREXEBREAKILEREEK
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-NEFE ZFN\F ZF—L£F ZFRF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET TAET TAET

Revenue LN 20,534 28,061 23,610 45,204 19,451

(Loss) profit attributable  ARQ B A A ME

to the owners of the b (&5 18) % 7
Company (48,671) (50,622) (34,302) 131,444 (233,399)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERESE

As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

—B-%F —TNF ZF)\F ZF—tF ZFTRHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
FTERT THETT TAET TAET TAT

Total assets
Total liabilities

10,997 44,298 57,759 81,966 276,325
(139,106) (222,565) (229,225) (247,343) (554,605)

\
A

EE
CRt GRP
)

=g
T R

(128,109) (178,267) (171,466) (165,377) (278,280)

z
il

Net liabilities
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